Sociological research studies

Sufficiency and wellbeing

A study of degrowth practices in the Geneva and Vaud area

Orlane Moynat



INSTITUT DE RECHERCHES SOCIOLOGIQUES



SUFFICIENCY AND WELLBEING: A STUDY OF DEGROWTH PRACTICES IN THE GENEVA AND VAUD AREA

Orlane Moynat

Sociograph n°59



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
Introduction	9
LITERATURE REVIEW	15
SUSTAINABILITY AND WELLBEING SUSTAINABLE CONSUMPTION AND WELLBEING DEGROWTH	15 23 27
PROBLEM AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	33
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK Wellbeing Theory of Human Needs Fundamental Human Needs and Human Scale Development Social Practice Theory and Cultural Representations	34 34 35 37 41
METHODOLOGY	47
EMPIRICAL FRAMEWORK Sampling Strategy and Contact Participants Interviews Potential Outcomes Analysis	47 48 49 50 53 53
RESULTS	57
MULTIPLE DEGROWTH Food Housing Mobility DEGROWTH AND NEEDS SATISFACTION A Matrix of Wellbeing and Degrowth	57 61 62 64 69
Needs Satisfaction	74

Subsistence and Protection	75
Affection	78
Understanding	81
Participation	82
Leisure	83
Creation	86
Identity	87
Freedom	89
DISCUSSION	93
Various degrowth	93
THE POWER OF SATISFIERS	94
Synergic satisfiers	94
Inhibiting satisfiers	98
CULTURAL SHIFT	99
SUSTAINABLE WELLBEING?	102
CONCLUSION	105
LIVING DEGROWTH	107
SATISFYING DEGROWTH	108
FROM INDIVIDUAL ACTIONS TO INSTITUTIONALIZATION	110
LIMITATIONS	113
FURTHER RESEARCH	114
BIBLIOGRAPHY	117
Annexes	122
Annex 1: Simplified Max-Neef's Matrix (original – EN)	122
ANNEX 2: SIMPLIFIED MAX-NEEF'S MATRIX (TRANSLATED – FR	1)123
Annex 3 (1): Interview Guide (translated – EN)	124
Annex 3 (2): Interview Guide (Translated – EN)	125
ANNEX 3 (3): INTERVIEW GUIDE (TRANSLATED - EN)	126

TABLE

Table 1: A Matrix of Wellbeing and Degrowth

71

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A big thank you to the French-speaking Switzerland Degrowth Movement (Réseau d'Objection de Croissance) who has given me the opportunity to reach to incredible people that made this work possible, and to all the participants that agreed to discuss and debate around degrowth and the good life.

A kind thought to Prof. Marlyne Sahakian who has been more than supporting all the way through this research work, and still is today.

Finally, a warm thank you to the talented Loïc Bara, a lifelong friend, for the amazing cover illustration.

INTRODUCTION

In his seminal work in sustainability studies, Jackson (2017) stresses that "the conventional formula for achieving prosperity relies on the pursuit of economic growth" (p.23), which represents one of the cornerstones of a capitalist political economy, together with individualism and consumerism (Wilhite, 2017: 5). Based on greed and profit, the process of infinite growth questions and challenges limits (Latouche, 2019: 113—all quotes by Latouche are translated in english by author in this work) and supports accumulation and "commodification of more and more aspects of life" (Gough, 2017: 173). Growth for the sake of growth has become "the primary, if not the only, objective of the economy and of life" (Latouche, 2019: 25). This has permitted "people who are raised in capitalist or quasi-capitalist political economic systems" to be exposed to the idea of a "positive association between economic growth and wellbeing in virtually every domain of life, from work, to home to public spaces" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 302). This is what Robbins (2004) has referred to as the culture of capitalism, where "growth in income as well as growth in the number and size of things possessed and consumed" are associated with better life (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 302), propelled forward by the maximization of the production and consumption of goods (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 302). In that direction, the "traditional neo-classical assumptions of non-satiation and individual's utility maximization" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 304) lead human beings to resemble the homo economicus (Mill, 1848) representation that is defined by "a type of rationality based on the maximization of one's own utility or happiness while not necessarily accounting for other people or the environment when deciding what to consume" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 306). The "engine of growth on which modern economies depend" lock people into what Weber called an 'iron cage' of consumerism (in Jackson, 2017: 104), and makes "the everyday reality" of life

inherently material (Jackson, 2017: 139). This, in turn, implies that people mostly rely on consumption and material artefacts in their everyday life, which constitute "a powerful 'language of goods' that [is] use[d] to communicate with each other—not just about status, but also about identity, social affiliation", about feelings for each other, hopes and dreams of the good life (Jackson, 2017: 114). A reduction of consumption seems impossible to achieve, as ever-more consumption is embedded in people's minds as offering "the ability to facilitate [...] participation in the life of society" and to contribute to prosperity (Jackson, 2017: 114). As succinctly stated by the degrowth thinker Kallis (2019):

As the endgame of two centuries of limitless expansion nears, no one is willing to pull the emergency brake, and many are happy to push the accelerator instead (p.126).

This culture of capitalism and maximization leads to a form of economic growth that is highly detrimental to the environment. As stated by Klein (2015), "capitalism, by ignoring the finite nature of resources and by neglecting the long-term wellbeing of the planet and its potentially crucial biodiversity, threatens our existence" (p.233), to become a systemic driver of climate change (Gough, 2017: 194). The pillars of capitalism: "economic growth, individual ownership, marketization, product differentiation, product turnover" (Wilhite, 2017: 6) are seen as the main causes of environmental degradation. An economy whose stability rests on the relentless stimulation of consumer demand places "unsustainable burdens on the planet's ecosystems" (Jackson, 2017: 201), and threaten the "stability of its financial and political system." (Jackson, 2017: 24). This suggests that we should reach for a system where economic values are not central and where the economy is only a mean and not the ultimate end to human endeavors (Latouche, 2019). An emphasis is placed on changing the ways in which the economy is evaluated; in a capitalist economy, indicators are developed to measure the advancement of an economy that justifies economic growth. This is the case for the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) indicator that measures "everything in

short, except that which makes life worthwhile" (Jackson, 2017: 53), based on Robert Kennedy's historic speech in 1968, thus ignoring social and environmental costs. The concepts of capitalism and economic growth seem to be questioned and challenged, as they have "failed the fragile ecological system on which we depend for survival" (Jackson, 2017: 21). They support a concept of progress that is "damaging our environment but also degrading our own psychological and social wellbeing" (Jackson, 2005: 25).

The negative effects of unbridled economic growth are also a case of distress for human wellbeing. Indeed, it has been underlined that economic growth destroys the environment as well as undermines the "social conditions for human wellbeing" (Gough, 2017: 172). In that direction, Max Neef (1995) stressed, in his threshold hypothesis, that economic growth may lead to increased human welfare up to a certain point, but beyond that threshold, the environmental and social costs of growth begin to have a negative impact, reducing welfare in spite of continued economic development. In the same vein, it is stressed that the "material impacts of increasing consumption are environmentally unsustainable while the [unlimited] material consumption can conflict with crucial social and psychological components of human welfare" (Jackson and Marks, 1999: 421). "Some degree of responsibility for the negative aspects of modern society is [then] attributable to the pursuit of growth itself' (Jackson, 2017: 117) which generates a double menace, both on the planet and on people's welfare. Indeed, the present levels of economic activity lie beyond the critical 'safe operating space' of the planet (Rockström et al., 2009), and seem to fail to avoid a disenchantment with modern life (Jackson, 2017 cites Soper, 2008) that appears to spread across society and to favor anonymity, social atomization and spiritual isolation (Jackson, 2005 cites Herber, 1963). The modern economy designs people's life around a "pervasive anxiety" (Jackson, 2017:101) as a consequence of the stress and pressure nourished by the consumer society founded on time constraints, work and limitless profit. For the purpose of mitigating the social and environmental costs of the present economic system, economic paradigms promoting sustainability such as green economics, smart growth, sustainable growth assume that technical efficiency will "allow consumption and wellbeing to increase while reducing the environmental side effects of production and consumption" (Royo and Wilhite 2015: 310). These paradigms are based on the concept of decoupling, which advocates for the decoupling of emissions from economic growth through "more efficient production processes, more sustainable goods and services" and in sum, "more profit with less stuff" (Jackson, 2017: 84). It is considered by Wilhite and Norgard (2004) as the 'efficiency delusion' as it "will fail to raise global standards of wellbeing to a sufficient level, or will fail to reduce emissions at a sufficient rate, or will fail at both" (Gough, 2017: 196) and is regarded as nothing but a myth by Jackson (2017). Even if described by the mainstream perspective as "the only current politically viable strategy for a global low carbon economy" (Gough, 2017: 195), the efficiency approach reinforces the link between wellbeing and income and continues to associate prosperity with growth (Gough, 2017: 102-103). It only focuses on the eco-efficiency of production when patterns of consumption and consumption-based emissions "must be given equal priority, especially in the rich world" (Gough, 2017: 195). Gough (2017) sums up this idea by stressing that the mainstream green growth approach alone will not be enough. While the decoupling strategies don't seem to be sufficient, reshaping as well as limiting consumption are considered as interesting focus for climate mitigation.

Indeed, it has been proved that "the driving role of consumption in current economic growth must be curbed" (Gough, 2017: 173). This is supported by the assumption that more is not necessarily better (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 304), and that "we [...] have never needed a culture of limits as much as we do now" (Kallis, 2019: 94). But because of the strength of mainstream beliefs linked to capitalism, the reduction of consumption is "often portrayed and often perceived as constraining and threatening the human welfare" (Jackson and Marks, 1999: 439) and it is hard to move people away from the consumer culture imperatives. Empirical research has demonstrated, in contrast, that modifying

people's life patterns towards a reduction in their consumption not only does not threaten, but may even enhanced wellbeing (Guillen-Royo, 2010: 384), while reducing negative impacts on the environment.

While "human wellbeing and ecological sustainability have often been regarded as incompatible" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 301), they now compose an interesting interface that allows for a new perspective to theorize a transformation to sustainable societies. This new area of research is also interesting as it will allow to design unique policies that focus on sustainability and wellbeing instead of economic growth (Wilhite 2015: 313). Building on the idea that a route towards more sustainability needs to link wellbeing, consumption and environmental impact (Vita, 2019: 1), this Masters' thesis is inspired by the two following assumptions: "we have no alternatives but to question growth" (Jackson, 2016: 21), and an emphasis must be placed on wellbeing and consumption patterns.

In the sections that follow, the literature will unveil the different notions and findings linked to this 'new' interface of study, or the nexus between consumption, degrowth and wellbeing. The research questions and the conceptual framework will then lead to empirical evidence, based on an overview of the methodological approach. In the discussion and conclusion, the challenge of reducing consumption and increasing wellbeing will be presented as a robust solution towards sustainable transitions and climate change mitigation.

LITERATURE REVIEW

SUSTAINABILITY AND WELLBEING

Sustainability is with no doubt a very large field of study that has been addressed for years in many different contexts and through many different perspectives. As an introduction to this specific literature, which won't be exhaustively presented here, two important notions should be unveiled that will help understand the following work. First, the concept of planetary boundaries within which we expect that humanity can operate safely (Rockström et al., 2009). This concept was first conceptualized in the Stockholm Resilience Center 'planetary boundaries' report in 2009 that proposed a study of our "proximity to nine 'critical biophysical boundaries" and advised that "transgressing one or more planetary boundaries may be deleterious or even catastrophic" (Rockström et al., 2009), provoking serious environmental changes. Those nine planetary boundaries, later used by Raworth in her 'Doughnut Economics' paradigm (2012, 2017), include climate change, ocean acidification, ozone depletion, nitrogen and phosphorus cycle, global freshwater use, land system change, biodiversity loss, chemical pollution and atmospheric aerosol loading (Rockström et al., 2009; Steffen et al., 2015). In her 'Doughnut Economics', or 'life-belt' theory, Raworth (2012; 2017) added to this reflection by stressing the idea of a safe and just space between those planetary boundaries and the concept of social boundaries as a route towards global prosperity. The social foundations that should represent the minimum requirement for all towards wellbeing are about access to water, food, health, gender equality, social equity, energy, jobs, voice, resilience, education and income. Her theory proposes that everyone should reach a decent level of satisfaction of those specific social indicators while not trespassing the associated planetary boundaries. She illustrates that theory with a 'Doughnut of sustainability' that is composed of the planetary boundaries representing an outer ring and the social foundations constituting the inner ring of the doughnut. This is supported by Gough's argument that "the most urgent task is to bring everyone above the social foundations which guard against threatening social deprivation while not exceeding the critical planetary boundaries—which will in turn guard against future generations falling below these social foundations" (Gough, 2017: 20).

This has been stressed in other words by Jackson, who highlights the dilemma of our times that is of "reconciling our aspirations for the good life with the limitations and constraints of a finite planet" (Jackson, 2016: 3). Following that direction, Jackson also stresses that there are "some strong competing visions of the good life [that] hail from psychology and sociology, economic history, secular or philosophical viewpoints; others from the religious or 'wisdom' traditions" (Jackson, 2016: 48). That aim for a *good life* (eudaimonia) (Richard, 2013 in Brand Correa et Steinberger, 2017: 44) "that is declined in multiple ways depending on the context" (Latouche, 2019: 21) seems to be "something in which we must invest [...] both at the personal and at the societal level" (Jackson, 2016: 50).

As there is an attempt to tend towards theories and concepts that would help to create opportunities to mitigate climate change and preserve the planetary boundaries while aiming towards a *good life* that would assure the achievement of the crucial social foundations, some new insights on how to address the issue are emerging and adding to the studies on sustainability. This concept of social foundations in relation to planetary boundaries that seems to go beyond the mainstream consumer paradise (Jackson, 2016: 48) perspective inspires interesting approaches. One of them is the approach through wellbeing, as more and more efforts are made to consider the wellbeing of the planet as linked to people's wellbeing. Brand-Correa and Steinberger (2017) support that argument stressing that "the challenge of achieving human wellbeing in the Anthropocene era has been summarized by Raworth

(2012)" (p.43) as the following interrogation: 'Can we live above social foundations but below an environmental ceiling, or within the Doghnut of sustainability?' This suggests that a balance between planetary boundaries and social foundations is necessary, implying that the attainment of the social goals cannot harm the planetary boundaries, and that a respect of the planetary boundaries could conversely serve the contentment of the social goals. This corresponds to what has been conceptualized as the *wellbeing dividend* (Jackson, 2008a), namely the ability to live better and reduce our impact on the environment in the process (Jackson, 2005: 19). As stressed by Jackson, our "ability to flourish within ecological limits [then] becomes both a guiding principle for design and a key criterion for success" (Jackson, 2016: 160).

This aspiration to reach the wellbeing dividend inspired efforts to bring up the concept of wellbeing as a core component of studies on sustainability and climate mitigation (here, the concept of climate mitigation is used to describe broadly the set of planetary boundaries stressed as critical by Rockström et al., 2019). Interestingly, it has been stressed that wellbeing theories "enable researchers, communities and stakeholders to have informed and normative discussions about which activities and sectors meaningfully contribute to social progress, and where low-carbon alternatives to these can be found" (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017: 11). Towards this aim, various theories exist that need to be taken into account to understand the differences and ambiguities that reflect different schools of thoughts. To put it simply, the two major 'conflicting' approaches to human wellbeing "can be broadly categorized as either hedonic (pleasure-seeking) or eudaimonic (flourishing)" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 44).

The hedonic approach defines wellbeing as "happiness, interpreted as the occurrence of positive affect and the absence of negative affect" (Kahneman et al., 1999) (Ryan et al., 2008: 139). It relies on the pleasure principle and sees wellbeing as preference and desire fulfilment, based on potentially infinite (Jackson, 2005: 22) and insatiable (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite, 2015: 301) individual wants. Based on the 'desires theories' (Gasper, 2004: 7),

it relies on the "assumption that preference fulfilment always or nearly always brings satisfaction" (Ibid). While supporting the preference satisfaction theory that is the "dominant conception of wellbeing within market societies", it stresses that "individuals are the best judges of their own preferences or wants" (Gough, 2017: 40). This approach, that is claimed to be drawn from mainstream economics and psychology (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 45), is based on utility maximization and happiness theories (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017). It has been argued that hedonic wellbeing has a close fit with the capitalist ethic (Ryan et al., 2008: 165), which suggest some negative implications in relation to environmental concerns. Indeed, it creates "an ethical void in which any consumption behavior is justified in terms of individual wellbeing" (Richard, 2013) and "any limits to consumption (limits on resource use, environmental impacts or economic growth) can be immediately perceived as limits to human wellbeing from a mainstream economic perspective" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 44). Therefore, the hedonic approach to wellbeing seems to pave "the way for increased economic activity" (Costanza, 2014: 283; Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 44) as it is exclusively concentrated on the outcome of happiness and pleasure (Ryan et al., 2008: 139). Consequently, its "relevance (...) in terms of climate change and policy" (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017: 8) design doesn't go beyond adaptation prioritization and cost optimal mitigation pathways (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017), which has been claimed to be a not fast enough route towards environmental goals (Gough, 2017).

As opposed to the hedonic approach to wellbeing, the eudaimonic perspective is less focused on the outcomes as on the process of living well (Ryan et al., 2008: 139). Eudaimonic school of thought sees wellbeing as the "enabling of humans to reach their highest potential within the context of their society" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger: 44) and it is argued that "it is the actions, content and processes of an individual's life that matter, rather than transitory and subjective mental states (Aristotle)" (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017: 3). This dimension supposes that "human wellbeing is derived from 'flourishing' and lies distinct from a state of

happiness or pleasure" (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017: 3) and that an individual "must be able to flourish and fully participate in her chosen form of life" (Doyal and Gough, 1991) to be well. The eudaimonic approach implies a need-centered understanding of human wellbeing, opposed to the hedonic subjective views (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 43), that allows for intercultural considerations on "what constitutes a good life (and so avoid claims of paternalism), but remain specific enough to measure and operationalize the theory in practice" (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017: 3). Following that, this approach is commonly argued to be "better suited to address questions of sustainability and climate governance" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 43) for various reasons. While allowing for the definition of what is required to live a flourishing life, this approach provides the "underpinning to a basic social minimum that should be guaranteed by constitutional right" (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017: 3), thus informing ethical debates about climate change, "including discussions of fair mitigation burdens that provide adequate room for development" (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017: 3-4). In that direction, this theory is all the more relevant when it comes to climate change and policy as it promotes needs-based equity, sufficiency as well as consumption reduction (Lamb and Steinberger, 2017), elements that are known to be crucial for an interesting turn towards climate change mitigation (Gough, 2017).

If there are some insights that allow for the characterization of both approaches as objective and subjective depending on the method used to 'measure' them, hedonic research is, in principle, "typically grounded in subjective and adaptive self-assessments whereas eudaimonic research is founded on "objective and universal conditions". Methods are objective when the "assessments [is] made by an agent different from the subject itself' which attempt to "capture social arrangement" and subjective when one's consider his own experience (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2016: 45). "In hedonic wellbeing, the most commonly used objective measurements are done through affluence or monetary wealth, following the nexus that can be raised between utility and consumption". As opposed, "subjective methods based on a

hedonic understanding of HW have been used as the basis for measuring experienced utility" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2016: 45). Royo and Wilhite (2015) stress that "most researchers chose to address wellbeing either through objective (economic growth, basic needs level, life expectancy, pollution, capabilities...) or subjective (self-reports on life satisfaction, negative and positive emotions...) approaches" (p.301). This suggests that two component of wellbeing need to be taken into account when adopting a specific perspective: the approach to wellbeing itself (hedonic or eudaimonic) and the way in which it will be addressed and measured (objective or subjective data collection), to "avoid the assimilation of certain theories to certain data types" (Ottaviani, 2018: 58).

The exposition of the two main approach to wellbeing proposed in this section suggests that they are conflicting in that they differ in their groundings, intentions and operationalization. However, it has been stressed that they might also be complementary in some cases and for specific purposes (Costanza et al., 2007: 267). Indeed, "a convincing consensus is emerging that combinations of approaches—objective, subjective (...)—provide a more rounded picture of human wellbeing" (Gough, 2017: 62).

Before going further in the reflection, if we are to conceptualize a relationship between wellbeing and sustainability, we must consider the concept of sustainable wellbeing that express this connection (Gough, 2017: 87). For Dietz and al. (2009), "one way to conceive this is as a ratio (...) called 'the ecological efficiency of wellbeing' (Gough, 2017: 87). This is important to consider when discussing wellbeing as some stress that in the pursuit of the good life today, we are eroding the basis for wellbeing tomorrow and that "in pursuit of our own wellbeing, we are undermining the possibilities for others" (Jackson, 2017: 3). Yet, "prosperity today means little if it undermines prosperity tomorrow" (Jackson, 2016: 150) and the 'ecological efficiency of wellbeing' is therefore crucial to assure "wellbeing for all current peoples as well as for future generations" (Gough, 2017: 12). This implies "paying

attention to its distribution between people", and to concerns of equity and social justice (Gough, 2017: 12) to respect an "upper boundary set by biophysical limits and a lower boundary set by decent levels of wellbeing for all today" where "lies a safe and just space for humanity" (Gough, 2017: 12). One way forward would be to avoid the conflict and promote the synergies that exist between the "twin pursuit of human development and planetary sustainability" (Gough, 2017: 93). For that purpose, it is necessary to understand the environmental impacts of the current strategies designed to ensure quality of life to establish a route towards sustainable wellbeing, as they seem to currently represent a threat to the global environment (Vita, 2019). This remains a complex ambition to discuss as it requires addressing the two components of sustainable wellbeing at the same time—need satisfaction and emissions (Gough, 2017: 93), but nonetheless crucial for a just and safe route towards sustainability.

Considering the different approaches to wellbeing, either hedonic or eudaimonic, objective or subjective, many authors came up with their own interpretation which led to very distinctive theories of wellbeing with similarities and differences that make the literature on wellbeing quite rich but also complex. As stressed before, the eudaimonic perspective seems to be best suited when considering environmental issues. Therefore, the next section will briefly bring together different theories of wellbeing that have been applied to the questions of sustainable consumption and climate change and are based on a eudaimonic perspective, as they are the most compelling in relation to this work.

The first one that can be exposed is the Theory of Human Needs, which has been developed by Doyal and Gough (1984; 1991). They developed an approach to wellbeing based on 'fundamental' or 'objective human needs' (Jackson and Marks 1999: 427). They present a compelling representation of human need satisfaction arguing that we all share a finite number of satisable and non-substitutable human needs (Steinberger, 2020) that are met through culturally specific *satisfiers* (Max-Neef, 1991). They conceive the needs as organized roughly as a pyramid, "with

basic need satisfaction at the bottom underpinning physical, mental health and autonomy, culminating in wellbeing and social participation" (Steinberger, 2020). Max Neel's shares a similar approach with his Theory of Fundamental Human needs and Human Scale Development (1991). However, his approach differs as his list of needs is non-hierarchical except from the need for subsistence, that is staying alive. He states that a need theory is required for development (Max-Neef, 1991), and proposes a matrix that is operational as "for every existing or conceivable satisfier, one or more of the needs stated must appear as a target-need of the satisfier" (Max-Neef, 1991: 29). In the same direction and drawing on the concept of needs, Sen (1999) and later Nussbaum (2003) proposed a Capabilities approach that exposes a series of functionings to which every human should have access (Gasper, 2004: 9). They stress that "capabilities can be considered as a prerequisite to enable people to meet their needs and experience wellbeing" (Pelenc, 2014: 2). In 2007, Costanza et al. proposed a new approach that was based on an "integrative definition of quality of life that combines measures of human needs with subjective wellbeing or happiness" (Costanza et al., 2007: 267). He ambitioned to expose the different opportunities for people to fulfill their needs (Costanza et al., 2007: 275), bringing together complementary approaches to address wellbeing at the individual, community, national, and global levels (Costanza et al., 2007). As a last contribution to this non-exhaustive list of theories, the approach of Di Giulio and Defila (2020) on protected need is worth mentioning. They proposed an operationalization of the 'good life' with nine Protected Needs "that should receive special protection within and across societies" (Di Giulio and Defila, 2020). Those protected needs focus on three dimensions—the tangibles and material things, the person, and the community—that are argued to include all of the needs necessary towards achieving wellbeing.

SUSTAINABLE CONSUMPTION AND WELLBEING

Following this review of the nexus between sustainability and wellbeing, and the different approaches to wellbeing that can be used to discuss environmental concerns, we will now discuss a more precise dimension of sustainability. As highlighted before, the impact of economic growth on the environment has been proved to be damaging, while its positive influence on human wellbeing is increasingly questioned. As economic growth can be characterized as a combination of production and consumption, this Masters' thesis focuses on understanding what wellbeing involves in term of consumption, as it seems a good way to address the crucial goal of the wellbeing dividend (Jackson, 2008a). Production systems will not be central to this work—including green growth, green development, decarbonization—as they represent a challenge unto themselves that needs to be studied precisely. The literature reviewed here focuses on consumption in relation to wellbeing, and the different forms of consumption reduction that can be mentioned as such. When it comes to consumption, many domains can be included, but food, transport and heating homes are argued to be the categories with the highest impact on the environment (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014). The area of research and policy considered as sustainable consumption is described as the "efforts to reduce either the environmental impacts of consumption, or to reduce consumption itself' (Royo and Wilhite 2015: 301).

This is important when we consider to what extent current levels and patterns of consumption are or are not "good for us—not just in terms of environmental impact but in terms of individual and collective wellbeing" (Jackson, 2005: 21). Consumption has been proven to have damaging consequences on the environment such as depletion of natural resources and damage on natural environment (Jackson and Marks, 1999). The literature also shows that "growth in consumption is not positively correlated with increases in wellbeing" (Royo and Wilhite 2015: 312) and that the increased expenditure provoked by raising consumption actually hinders the satisfaction of the underlying needs in certain

categories (Jackson and marks, 1999: 422). In that direction, Jackson and Marks (1999) have developed the concept of economic bads as opposed to economic goods to highlight the harmful consequences of economic growth and consumption on the environment but also the social and human costs it entails. Following that, the definition of the Oslo symposium (1994) on sustainable consumption that promotes "the use of services and related products, which respond to basic needs and bring a better quality of life while minimizing the use of natural resources and toxic materials as well as the emissions of waste and pollutants over the life cycle of the service or product so as not to jeopardize the needs of further generations" has been reviewed in that direction. Indeed, Di Giulio and Fusch (2014) stress that "a definition of sustainable consumption should extend to both a minimum level of natural and social resources and a maximum level of natural and social resources that individuals are entitled to have access to" (p.187), or the concept of Consumption corridors with its two main propositions: "first to jointly define the external conditions necessary to live a good life (...) and use them as a basis for defining minimum consumption standards, and then "to jointly negotiate maximum consumption standards, that is, levels of consumption at which no substantial further improvement in wellbeing is to be expected and the quality of life of others is being endangered" (Di Giulio and Fuchs 2014: 188). Sustainable consumption would then be described as "consumption respecting these minima and maxima" (Di Giulio and Fuchs 2014: 187) and "the goal of sustainable development can thus be rephrased as providing human beings in the present and in the future with the resources necessary to meet their objective needs and therefore to be able to live a good life according to their individual choices" (Di Giulio and Fuchs 2014: 186). This corridors approach is interesting for the purpose of "improving the sustainability of consumption" (Di Giulio and Fuchs 2014: 184) as it encourages the consumption reduction as the "societal norm of accepting and observing these levels" (Di Giulio and Fuchs 2014: 188).

In that direction, in his work on the political economy of growth linked to wellbeing (2017), Gough proposes "a new meta-

goal for policy" that is "to 'recompose' consumption in affluent societies" which would allow "to develop a sage 'consumption corridor' between minimum standards, allowing every individual to live a good life, and maximum standards, ensuring a limit on every individual's use of natural and social resources" (Gough, 2017: 197-198). Supporting this idea of recomposing consumption to respect such corridors, more or less "radical [bottom-up] initiatives aimed at living a simpler, more ethical and more sustainable life" (Jackson, 2017: 127) are emerging across the globe that are "challenging established patterns of consumption" (Gough, 2017: 198). Following the assumption that "green growth alone will not be enough" (Gough, 2017: 2) and thus going beyond the technological efficiency theory for climate mitigation, those initiatives are based on the paradigm of sufficiency. The notion of sufficiency represents an alternative to notions of efficiency and maximization. It argues for a renewed organization of production and consumption that aims at providing enough goods and services, food and energy, etc. instead of maximizing production and consumption (Barry, 2012: 161). It supports the idea of "switching desire and pleasure from consumption and accumulation to the enjoyment of experiences and relationships" (Barry, 2012: 189). This notion helps to distinguish "necessary' consumption from 'luxury' and 'locked-in consumption' and ways of living" (Gough, 2017: 198). Indeed, "by the end of the first decade of the 21st century, the qualitative benefits of a less materialistic lifestyle were a core element in community-based initiatives for environmental change" (Jackson, 2017: 128). "Eco villages, transition towns, cohousing, eco-neighborhoods and voluntary simplicity initiatives are examples of movements" that advocate for "a more sustainable life" (Guillen-Royo, 2010: 384) and illustrate the "proliferation and independent coordination of local initiatives" (Gough, 2017: 206). Those initiatives promoting simplicity are "not associated with poverty, but [rather] linked to [...] a 'subsistence society', in clear contrast to the current 'consumer society' (Guillent-Royo, 2010: 390).

Defined by Etzioni's (1998), "voluntary simplicity" (or minimalism) "refers to the choice out of free will [. . .] to limit

expenditures on consumer goods and services, and to cultivate non-materialistic resources of satisfaction and meaning" (p.620). Following Elgin (1993), Jackson (2017) sees it as an "entire philosophy for life" (p.127) and a "way of life that is 'outwardly simple, yet inwardly rich' as the basis for revisioning human progress" (Jackson, 2017: 127), if such a term can be used without referring to growth. Others (Zamwel, 2014) define it as "a way of life practiced by individuals whose ideology calls for minimizing consumption and maximizing reduction" (p.199). Studies on the voluntary simplicity of downshifting movements substantiate "the existence of negative returns to consumption" (Royo, 2010: 385), which in turn supports the ideas that a consumption corridors approach may be a safe route towards the wellbeing dividend. However, if these engagements towards voluntary simplicity seem to "reverse the trend towards environmental destruction and undermine the imaginary foundations of the system", it doesn't suggest "a radical rethinking of the system", and will generate a change that is likely to be limited (Latouche, 2019: 52).

Considered by Guillen-Royo and Wilhite (2015) as "one of the most robust examples of bottom up, community driven change" (p.312), the transition towns movement goes further as it embodies a "response to the failure of higher levels of government to confront resource constraints and climate change" (Gough, 2017: 206). The movement was pictured by Rob Hopkins (2008), a professor of agronomy and permaculture expert (Latouche, 2019: 104) and was born in a "transition town called Totnes in the UK, where a small group of activists established a local community-based campaign to engage people in changing their lifestyles and reforming local infrastructures" (Jackson, 2017: 129). Royo and Wilhite (2015) define it as a "micro-political movement involving participatory planning and an aim to be less environmentally intrusive and more socially inclusive" (p.312). The transition towns movement draws on "wellbeing research, both at the theoretical and practical levels" (Royo and Wilhite 2015: 312) in order to find "ways to address global problems with local solutions" (Jackson, 2017: 129). According to Latouche, "this may be the form of building from the bottom up that comes closest to a degrowth urban society" (Latouche, 2019: 104) as it proposes an "alternative political economic framing that is 'non-capitalist" (Royo and Wilhite 2015: 312) and aims towards energy self-sufficiency and resilience (Latouche, 2019).

If those movements appear as encouraging to go from the "hard-headed 'greed' and technological might of contemporary capitalism to an ethical, just and sustainable future" (Gough, 2017:2), Gough (2017) exposes that recomposing consumption away from high carbon luxuries to low-carbon necessities (p.2) "will not reduce emissions fast enough to avoid a crucial global warming (p.125). To follow his assumption that advocates for ecosocial policies that effectively reduce consumption (Gough, 2017: 169), Victor (2012, cited in Gough, 2017) "has modelled a scenario of 'selective growth', where commodities are grouped into high- and low-GHG¹ intensity, and expenditure on the high-intensity goods and services is reduced fast to near zero". It proposes that GDP per capita will grow at the same rate as usual but GHG emissions will decline for the next 15 years before rising again at a slower pace (Gough, 2017: 169).

DEGROWTH

Some theories consider it as not profound enough and call for the need of a more radical change within the economic system and the practices (Gough, 2017; Jackson, 2017; Latouche, 2019). The opportunity for "the construction of another society, a society of frugal abundance, a post-growth society (the term used in Germany by Niko Paech), or of prosperity without growth" (expression of the English economist Tim Jacskon) has emerged with the concept of degrowth (Latouche, 2019: 7). Georgescu-Roegen, alongside Grinevald, is known to be at the essence of this notion with the book La Décroissance (2006), based on his concept of bioeconomics which "consists in redefining the economic sphere,

¹ Green House Gas

both as a discipline (economics) and as a set of practices (economy), in relationship with its bio-physical environment" (Missemer, 2017: 493). Degrowth is "in the words of its proponents, a 'missile concept' designed to 'open up a debate silenced by the 'sustainable development consensus" (Jackson, 2017: 162). It's about confronting "the limitations of the past with a renewed vision for the future" in order to imagine a "path to social justice, wellbeing and ecological sustainability" (Schneider 2010: 3). Degrowth argues for a multi-level transformation to go beyond capitalism and achieve long-term socio-ecological sustainability (Brossmann and Islar, 2020) as stresses by Van den Bergh (2011) who describes it as the combination of five different dimensions. He "makes a distinction between GDP degrowth, consumption degrowth, worktime degrowth, radical degrowth (change in values, ethics...) and physical degrowth (reduction of the physical size of the economy). In turn, Brossman and Islar (2020) classify degrowth as "interrelated practices grouped in five spheres: rethinking society, acting political, creating alternatives, fostering connections, and unveiling the self' (p.921-922). This can be translated into various implications: alternative and contesting consumption choices, alternative activist commitment, contesting stance towards the 'economic whole', conditions of commitment in terms of socialization and activist affinity, ways of getting involved but also social constraints, coping strategies for diminishing purchasing power (Mège 2010: 57—all quotes by Mège are translated to English by author in this work). In turn, Latouche illustrates the concept of degrowth with the notion of "virtuous circle of sobriety" composed of "eight fundamentals of any sustainable non-productivist society": reevaluate, reconceptualize, restructure, redistribute, relocalize, reduce carbon footprint, restore peasant activity, recycle (Latouche, 2019:51). This demonstrates that "degrowth is varied, with many different contributors that sometimes [even] oppose one another" Missemer (2017: 494). As the literature is very broad in defining degrowth, it is sometimes hard to capture a specific way to qualify it, either as a movement, a set of principles, a paradigm or an ideology. It may depend on the context and the approach, and this work will focus on

degrowth as a movement but most importantly a broader paradigm composed of a set of principles that rule practices. However, the activist dimension of degrowth as a politically active won't be addressed in this work as it is a specific discussion that goes beyond the scope of this research. Degrowth is argued to be "nourished both by practitioners and [...] ideas" (Mège, 2017: 79) and Gough stresses that we should actually use "the term post-growth to describe the goal" (Gough, 2017: 171) advocated by the degrowth paradigm(s) and ideas, and "degrowth as the route towards it" (Gough, 2017: 171), fashioned by its practitioners' actions.

For the purpose of understanding this route, Latouche stresses that one of the degrowth main concern is, among others including production systems and the labor market, "a change in lifestyle, and the elimination of unnecessary needs" (Latouche, 2019: 91). Indeed, "by rejecting economic growth", degrowth activists are trying to move away from "consumer society" (Mège, 2017: 63). For those reasons, and because it is the core argument of this work, a focus has to be made on the consumption dimension of degrowth. It seems that it can be considered as broader than described by Van den Berg (2011: 882), as consumption reduction can also be linked to work-time degrowth and radical degrowth. Regarding consumption, "degrowth involves a range of actions taken at the individual and collective level" (Schneider, 2010: 3) based on "voluntary restriction" (Mège, 2017: 74) that range from composting, sorting, eating less meat, buying very little new stuff, gleaning to biking, hitchhiking, carpooling or supporting network to be hosted (Mège, 2010). Mège classifies these consumption practices within three dimensions: "faire moins" (Do less), "faire soimême" (Do it yourself) and "faire sans" (Do without) (Mège, 2017). "Faire moins" relates to the "behaviors of sobriety stemming from a principle of self-limitation to privilege simplicity, to diminish the totality of one's consumption volumes, to live differently [and] to work differently" (Mège, 2017: 69). "Faire soi-même" allows to "regain control of [one's] practices and their use" and to limit "spending on basic necessities of life" (Mège, 2017: 71). The notion of "faire sans" gives priority to being more sober and preferring practical logics (Mège, 2017: 74) when consuming. These limits on consumption relate to the concept of internal limits argued by Kalis (2019) as "something to be sought as part of the good life (Kallis, 2019: 116) that "requires institutions at higher levels" to be agreed upon and secured (Kallis, 2019: 106). He argues that we need to limit ourselves in order for everyone to have enough, by accepting that our wants are limited and can be satisfied, which is for him the only way to enjoy an abundant world (Kallis, 2019: 127). He stresses that "it is our nature to choose or to search for and put a limit, to be at peace with what we have" (Kallis, 2019: 38).

This potential "macro-economic scenario" supported by the degrowth advocates is argued to potentially "have a positive influence on many of the factors that promote wellbeing (such as employment, time with family and friends, etc.), but there is still a lack of empirical evidence supporting this contention" (Guillen-Royo, 2015: 310). However, it seems to be a promising route toward the eagerly yearned wellbeing dividend, as Mège (2010) stresses that degrowth is "for the well-being of the planet and for oneself as well... it's a betterment" (p.62). In turn, Jackson sees a post-growth society as "a systemic re-construction of economics that offers both meaning and hope to the idea of social progress" and represents "the potential to deliver lasting prosperity" (Jackson, 2017: 140). The idea of investing "in assets that maximize our potential to flourish with the minimum level of material consumption, rather than in assets that maximize the throughput of material—irrespective of their contribution to long-term prosperity" (Jackson, 2017: 151) could offer the possibility to flourish, achieve greater social cohesion, find higher levels of wellbeing and still reduce the material impact on the environment (Jackson, 2017: 65). Even if sometimes considered as politically challenging for the time being (Gough, 2017), "the commitment to degrowth is contemporary in that it links social and ecological concerns that are widely valued (do-it-yourself, aspiration to work less, eat healthy, etc.)". "It therefore appears to be relatively compatible with all the discourses invoking the realization, autonomy and creativity of the individual" (Mège, 2017: 83). Argued as allowing to "live well, and

yet consume less" and "to have more fun—but with less stuff" (Jackson, 2017: 47-48), "a coherent 'post-growth' macroeconomics" can be considered as the most robust scenario to reach the wellbeing dividend and is seen by Jackson (2017) as "entirely possible" (p.184).

Based on the concept of wellbeing dividend (Jackson, 2008a; Guillen-Royo, 2010), the first section of this literature review helped to unveil the link between sustainability and wellbeing that is necessary to justify the purpose of this work as well as to propose an outcome that will be consistent with the existing findings. The second section drawn on this proved nexus between sustainability and wellbeing to go further into details and bringing up the relation between sustainable consumption and wellbeing through the concept of consumption corridors (Di Giulio and Fuschs, 2014). As a concluding part to this literature review, the third section relies on the concepts of wellbeing dividend and consumption corridors to uncover the link that the existing literature stresses between degrowth and wellbeing, through the idea of prosperity without growth (Jackson, 2016) or flourishing post-growth. As well as being a foundation for the conceptual framework adopted in this work, the literature review allows to assure the consistency and relevancy of the research and its outcomes in relation to the existing findings.

PROBLEM AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Contributing to an emerging area of research around wellbeing and consumption reduction, this work will use the various concepts described in the literature review above to answer the following interrogation: In what ways can consumption reduction practices impact sustainable wellbeing?

Towards this aim, and drawing on empirical research on community-based initiatives that promote sufficiency through more or less radical claims, this research will focus on the potential of the Degrowth paradigm(s). The concern will be to uncover forms of consumptions advocated by a Degrowth initiative, as it plays out in Western Switzerland, and link these practices and patterns to the notion of wellbeing.

As an introduction, the first question addressed in this work will help to unveil the specific practices of consumption reduction that are promoted by people following a degrowth path: What practices of consumption reduction are significant for Degrowth?

Then, the interest will be to understand the elements composing these practices which seem to either support or hinder their development: What are the elements that support or hinder those specific practices?

The attention will then be focused on the impact of those specific practices on the different dimensions considered as contributing to wellbeing: What is the impact of those practices on (sustainable) wellbeing?

Finally, this work will attempt to unveil the key elements that could be focused on to promote more or less radical consumption reduction practices while advocating for wellbeing as a normative goal for the assessment of sustainable climate mitigation: What insights can be unveiled to promote consumption reduction while supporting the goal of sustainable wellbeing?

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

WELLBEING

To answer those specific questions, this research will rely mostly on the concept of wellbeing mentioned earlier, following the assumption that one of the most promising ways to mitigate climate change is to focus on a perspective that allows for assuring people's wellbeing within the planetary boundaries (Rockström et al., 2009, Steffen et al., 2015).

As highlighted in the literature review, the concept of wellbeing may prove to be complex as well as evolving, since it can rely on eudemonic as well as hedonic theories. For the purpose of this work, emphasis will be placed on the objective dimension of wellbeing advocated by the eudemonic principles. A focus on the hedonic dimension of wellbeing would be problematic for this research in that "it further justifies the continuous pursuit of economic growth as a main policy goal" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 45). To go beyond that perspective, and because this work is based on the degrowth paradigm(s), the emphasis will be placed on an approach to wellbeing that opposes the mainstream theory of subjective wellbeing that focus on preferences and happiness to focus on the objective dimension of wellbeing. As stated by Gough (2017: 172) that cites Ryan and Sapp (2007): "the eudemonic school of wellbeing supports the premise that we all have psychological needs for autonomy, competence and relatedness but that economic growth often fails to nurture and nourish them". This perspective even seems to offer advantages "in the definition of human wellbeing in relation to sustainability" (ibid 2017: 44).

When hedonic wellbeing suffers from a lack of stability as based on people's preferences, and therefore "does not allow for intercultural (or even interpersonal) comparisons" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 45), a eudemonic approach allows for comparable conclusions between people, regions, and even generations. This approach also goes beyond the single individual focusing on a broader context and allows for the understanding of social institutions and political systems in relation to individual flourishing (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017). Finally, eudemonia which is translated as human flourishing, "is not conceived of as a mental state, a positive feeling or a cognitive appraisal of satisfaction, but rather as a way of living" (Ryan et al., 2008: 143). Those two last points are crucial as this research is about studying everyday practices and lifestyles of people that contest growth and encourage more human values and beliefs in relation to wellbeing. Altogether, it seems meaningful to use a "eudemonic understanding of human wellbeing in order to address the issue of improving people's well-being within environmental limits" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 46), which is precisely the purpose of this work.

As mentioned in the literature review, several theories rely on an objective approach to wellbeing and have been applied to environmental studies. The theories of human needs (Doyal and Gough, 1991) as well as the theory of fundamental human needs and human scale development (Max-Neef, 1991) were studied and seriously considered for this work. They have much in common but also differ on a few points that helped to place the emphasis on one theory instead of the other.

THEORY OF HUMAN NEEDS

The theory of human needs, developed by Doyal and Gough (1991) opposes desires "which are only subjectively felt and whose satisfaction leads to momentary pleasure" to "objective valid needs" which are "rooted in human nature and whose realization is conducive to human growth" (Fromm, 1976: 4). This approach

has many advantages when it comes to studying and discussing environmental and consumption reduction concerns, as they "imply a standard of sufficiency, rather than maximization" (Gough, 2017: 194). the theory of human needs proposes a "finite number of self-evident (universal, recognizable by anyone), incommensurable (thus satiable, irreducible and non-substitutable) and nonhierarchical needs, which encompass the range of capabilities or dimensions of Human Wellbeing" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 46). Those human needs are "universal social ends (...) satisfied or provisioned by culturally specific means" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 50) that are on the contrary flexible and allow "to evaluate and compare wellbeing across different global contexts and cultures and across generations in the future" (Gough, 2017: 38). Altogether, the theory of human needs is argued to be a meaningful "normative and ethical underpinning for evaluating the social dimensions of climate change" (Gough, 2017: 1).

The concept of needs itself allows to capture an objective dimension of wellbeing that is coherent with the degrowth paradigm(s) studied in this work, which advocate(s) for less economic growth and more human flourishing while limiting the impact on the planet. Gough stresses that "the pursuit of basic need satisfaction is in principle satiable" and could be "met with lower emissions than growth led by untrammeled consumer preferences and expenditure" (2017: 93), however this remains to be proved empirically. The concept of culturally specific satisfiers as means to meet those needs is coherent with the aspiration for discussing the everyday practices that are representative of "living degrowth" (Brossmann and Islar, 2020) and drive this research. The "ethical grounding" and the "claims of justice and equity" (Gough, 2017: 3) encouraged by these concepts of needs and satisfiers are also a meaningful argument that support the relevance of such a theory for discussing degrowth practices in relation to wellbeing. In sum, it is exposed that a human needs perspective is the only desirable approach that will allow for "negotiating trade-offs between climate change, capitalism and human wellbeing, now and in the future" (Gough, 2017).

FUNDAMENTAL HUMAN NEEDS AND HUMAN SCALE DEVELOPMENT

Based on the theory of human needs and drawing on Maslow's "hierarchical pyramid of human needs stretching from basic physical needs at the bottom to spiritual or transcendental needs at the top (Jackson and Marks, 1999: 426), Max-Neef proposes a horizontal taxonomy of nine axiological needs (subsistence, protection, affection, understanding, participation, idleness, creation, identity and freedom) "expressed in four different ways: being (attributes), having (tools, norms), doing (agency) and interacting (social expressions in time and space)" (Brand-Correa & Steinberger, 2017: 46). Except for the need for subsistence that is the most basic need, there is no hierarchy in the list and "on the contrary, simultaneities, complementarities and trade-offs are characteristics of the process of needs satisfaction" (Max-Neef, 1991: 17). Those "human needs are objective, plural, non-substitutable and satiable" (Gough, 2017: 3), and "common to all humans" (Pelenc, 2014: 5). This objective list of satiable and universal needs supports the reflection around consumption reduction and is in line with the approach stressed in this work about degrowth practices and wellbeing as the classification allows for an understanding of the relationship between needs and the ways in which they are satisfied (Max-Neef, 1991). While the needs are universal, the "means employed to satisfy [them] are culturally, socially and temporally flexible" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 46), and define through the concept of satisfiers (Max Neef, 1991). These satisfiers differ between regions, groups and even individuals, that are "free to choose how to satisfy their needs according to their values and aspirations" (Pelenc 2014: 5). They can be "organized within the grids of a matrix" (Max-Neef,1991: 30) as "individual or collective forms of Being, Having, Doing and Interacting to actualize needs" (Max-Neef, 1991: 30) (see simplified Max-Neef matrix as Appendix 1). They can be "social practices, values, forms of organization and political models that characterize a specific society" (Guillen-Royo, 2010: 385) and can promote or hinder wellbeing depending on their characteristics and

their effects in specific contexts. As stressed by Guillen-Royo, this concept is "necessary to understand the relationship between sustainable consumption and wellbeing" (2010: 386), and appears as evidently relevant if not necessary for the purpose of this research. In addition, it is stressed that "for a satisfier to enhance wellbeing it cannot have long-term detrimental effects on the environment because if the environment is negatively affected, [it] would negatively influence human needs fulfillment" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 307).

"The optimal fulfillment of the nine human needs is what defines wellbeing which is achieved or hampered through satisfiers" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 307). As "there is no one-to-one correspondence between needs and satisfiers" (Pelenc 2014: 5) and the latter can have very distinctive effects on the former, Max-Neef proposes five different types of satisfiers. This typology is relevant to the research question that aim at understanding the effect of satisfiers on wellbeing, and the different categories of satisfiers allow to apprehend the ambiguities that can rely among the satisfiers: limited satisfaction, false satisfaction, negative impact on satisfaction, backfire effect over satisfaction, but also proficient satisfaction. The satisfiers can be exogenous and "imposed, induced, ritualized or institutionalized" (Max-Neef, 1991: 34):

The singular satisfiers "satisfy one particular need" (Max-Neef, 1991: 34) and are neutral to others.

The pseudo satisfiers "generate a false sense of satisfaction of a given need" (Max-Neef, 1991: 31).

The violators (or destroyers), "when applied with the intention of satisfying a given need", "annihilate the possibility of its satisfaction over time" and impair the satisfaction of other needs (Max-Neef, 1991: 31).

The inhibiting satisfiers "over satisfy a given need, therefore seriously curtailing the possibility of satisfying other needs. With some exceptions, they share the attribute of originating in deeprooted customs, habits and rituals" (Max-Neef, 1991: 34).

And there are satisfiers that are endogenous (external) to civil society as they "derive from liberating processes which are the outcome of acts of volition generated by the community at the grassroots level" (Max-Neef, 1991: 34).

The synergic satisfiers "satisfy a given need, simultaneously stimulating and contributing to the fulfillment of other needs. They share the attribute of being anti-authoritarian in the sense that they constitute a reversal of predominant values, such as competition and coerciveness" (Max Neef, 1991: 34).

While each need can be met with different intensities (Max-Neef, 1991), they can be satisfied within three contexts: (1) with regard to oneself (*Eigenwell*); (2) with regard to the social group (*Mitwell*); and (3) with regard to the environment (*Umwell*) (Neef, 1991: 18). This understanding of needs satisfaction brought up by Max Neef (1991) is interesting in the context of this research as it allows for the apprehension of individual and collective practices as well as a broader consideration of it, taking into account the environment as one's surroundings and living contexts but also as the natural habitat one's evolves in and should protect.

Those two theories propose lists of human needs that seem all the more relevant in relation to the present research for various reasons that are, as exposed above, underlined in the literature. First, they allow for an objective approach to wellbeing which has been proved appropriate earlier in this section. Then, they seem to allow for a local, fair and ethical approach to consumption reduction and degrowth linked to wellbeing as they promote satiable needs away from growth consideration and call for a rational relationship with the environment. In addition, those needs-based approaches to wellbeing are recognized as providing a solid basis to identify the social dimension of human wellbeing exposed by the inner ring of Raworth's lifebelt, "a normative foundation for assessing the social implications of climate change and climate policies in the Anthropocene" (Gough, 2017: 62).

If both those theories seem relevant for the present study, the conceptual and methodological frameworks proposed by

Max-Neef are considered easier to operationalize and seem to constitute the most "interesting paradigm to frame future research on sustainable consumption and wellbeing" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite, 2015: 311), which is why it has been preferred over the Theory of human need introduced by Doyal and Gough (1991). The matrix on which the human scale development theory is based has already been used to discuss consumption patterns in relation to needs and satisfiers (Guillent-Royo, 2010: 386). It allows to consider consumption practice as satisfiers, and captures both individual and collective attributes and almost all other dimensions" (Pelenc, 2014: 7) proposed by the various objective theories of wellbeing. In addition, it allows for a classification of satisfiers depending on their effect on wellbeing, that range from violators to synergic satisfiers, which "enables the inclusion of environmental limits and limits to consumption and economic activity" in the discussion (Brand Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 47). For the purpose of this work, an emphasis will be made on the inhibiting and synergic satisfiers as they appear relevant to the research question. The concept of inhibiting satisfier can help understand which satisfiers need to be transformed to avoid a need satisfaction that generates the inhibition of another need. On the contrary, the concept of synergic satisfiers could allow to recognize the satisfiers that need to be sustained for an optimum satisfaction of needs and an ideal path towards wellbeing. In turn, this would unveil the elements that hinder of support degrowth practices that must be shifted. As it has been shown in other researches (Cruz, 2008; Castell, 2009 cited in Guillen-Royo, 2010: 386), it allows to address the outcome of policy interventions related to need satisfaction, and "the relations which are established between needs and their satisfiers make it possible to develop a philosophy and a policy for development which are genuinely humanistic" (Max-Neef, 1991: 23), and more focused on an "increase in the levels of local, regional and national self-reliance" (Max-Neef, 1991: 34). Furthermore, "contrary to traditional top-down strategies for societal change, Max-Neef's approach to human wellbeing provides a participatory tool for groups of people" (Guilen-Royo, 2010: 384) to analyze their satisfiers. These characteristics are

consistent with the advocacy for consumption reduction and with most of the degrowth claims. Finally, while Max-Neef's list of fundamental needs offers the possibility to acknowledge collective as well as individual practices, it also allows to follow the assumption that practices are not based on individual behaviors but on a much broader combination of elements, approach that is more precisely termed and described within the social practice theory outlined below. This is interesting as, through a clear concept of interdependent satisfiers, it allows to unveil the multiple and inter-dependent changes" in practices "that need to be in place to attain the long-awaited wellbeing dividend" (Guillen-Royo, 2010: 391).

SOCIAL PRACTICE THEORY AND CULTURAL REPRESENTATIONS

In the effort to mitigate climate change and reduce energy use, it seems like the "growing critique of economic growth from a sustainability and carbon-reduction perspective (...) [has] left intact the power of economic growth in household consumption" and has "only been marginally effective" (Wilhite, 2017: 17). Following that assumption, it is also worth mentioning that the apprehending of consumption as being an individual responsibility has long dominated the sustainable energy and environmental policy arenas (Maniates, 2001; Shove, 2010; Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014). In order to oppose the mainstream "theories of energy consumption and savings that conceptualize consumption as individual-driven and reduce low energy policy to the provision of efficient technologies to rational economic actors" (Wilhite, 2017: 23), this work will focus on perspectives that consider consumption as practices that are rooted in everyday habits. As stressed by Wilhite, "capitalism's 'common sense' of growth, speed, convenience and comfort is driving the formation of habits that make a heavy demand on energy and materials (...)" (Wilhite, 2017: 17) and are "rooted in societal norms, commercial discourses, materialities and experiential knowledge" (Wilhite, 2017: 2). Those "materially dense and carbon-intensive habits" (Ibid) are precisely what degrowth

paradigm(s) contest and try to restrain by promoting a more or less drastic reduction in consumption practices. As the research focuses on those specific practices through a study of degrowth in relation to wellbeing, an emphasis will be put on a social practice approach to consumption, as opposed to the theory of planned behavior (Ajzen, 2015), based on the rational choice assumption (Smith, 1776).

In his work, Bourdieu followed Mauss (1973) by using the term *habitus* "to capture the domain of knowledge on which body and mind draw in performing countless actions in the course of a day" (Wilhite, 2017: 27). The social practice theory that was originally shaped in Bourdieu's (1979) and Giddens (1984) writings and more recently in Schatzki (1996), Reckwitz (2002a), "has been adapted and applied to consumption by social scientists representing a number of academic disciplines (Warde 2005; Shove 2003; Ropke 2009; Wilhite 2013; Halkier et al. 2011 and others)" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 308). "A theory of social practice distributes agency in consumption between cultural, social and material contributions to action" (Wilhite, 2017: 24) and the "stubbornness of habits depends on how deeply anchored the habits are in relation to [...] three pillars of practices" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 28).

Practices are usually defined as being made up of three elements. The teleoaffective structures, that are also termed as the "place of mind and body in theories of action" by Wilhite (2017), correspond to the "cognitive processes and physical dispositions, acquired by the body through social experiences, inscribed in space and over time" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 28). It relates to "people and the knowledge they embody, both physically and mentally" (Shakian and Wilhite, 2014: 39). The material dimension of practices, also labelled as the "agency of material structures in everyday action" (Wilhite, 2017), includes "the objects and technologies involved in consumption practices" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 29) and "that influence and are influenced by everyday life" (Shakian and Wilhite, 2014: 39). Finally, the social dimension of practices involves what is regulated or prescribed, that

is all the "social rules and values related to consumption and change [...] that are tacitly accepted" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 29).

This theory has many advantages that are worth mentioning for the purpose of this research. First, as stressed before, it allows to consider consumption as practices rooted in habits that depends on several elements highlighted above, in order to go beyond the behavioral perspectives of the rational choice theory in term of practices. Then, it allows to deeply understand specific individual or collective practices including the elements that constitute them, which is appropriate for the comprehension of specific reduction consumption practices. Next, the claim for a social practice approach which defends that "practices are interrelated and must be viewed as a system and not as siloes" is compatible with this work as it supports the "argument in environmental studies that a more holistic view of resources consumption must be promoted" (Shakian and Wilhite, 2014: 37). Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the social practice theory is consistent with an understanding of the relationship between consumption and wellbeing. Indeed, as stressed by Guillen-Royo and Wilhite (2015), "evidence from wellbeing research supports an approach to consumption based on social practices and its constituting elements (...) focusing on the social, physical, technical and natural contexts in which both consumption and wellbeing are created" (p.310). It is useful as a theory of practices "can be used to explain the choice of certain satisfiers" that satisfy needs. (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 49) Altogether, as opposed to behaviorist perspectives, a social practice approach seems to represent a solid basis for a robust theory of change within the framework of consumption reduction and climate change mitigation and in relation to wellbeing.

It seems likely that the foundations for a potential robust theory of change claimed by the degrowth advocates and linked to the wellbeing can be relevantly addressed through a social practice approach. In that direction, Sahakian and Wilhite stress the consistency of "applying social practice theory to theorizing consumption, specifically in relation to transforming practices that have problematic environmental impacts" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 25). In their work, they emphasis Wilhite's term of 'routine busting' as the process of moving "habits in more environmentally friendly ways" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 28). Supporting the social practice theory, they state that "a change in any of [the] three pillars [underlined above] can shift a habit and indeed influence our overall dispositions" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 28). "Once the distributed agency potential across different elements of a social practice is identified, change can occur through social learning, which involves engagement in and with new practices" (Shakian and Wilhite, 2014: 30) to challenge strongly grounded habits.

But change is not easy, as the meanings and social norms that hold practices together can generate fear of social marginalization for example. "The perverse effects of dominant structures are legion" (Jackson, 2016: 129) and there is "little wonder that people trying to live more sustainably find themselves in conflict with the social world around them" (Jackson, 2016: 130). As stressed by Latouche, "the realization of the project of a society of frugal abundance", that would confront the established practices, "requires above all a mental revolution" (Latouche, 2019: 96) and a "decolonization of the imagination" (Latouche, 2019: 108). In that sense, "the achievement of a low-energy and climate-friendly political economy will demand breaking and reforming [the] collectively reinforced and individually enacted habits" (Wilhite, 2017: 3) and "convincing people [that there are] other elements (beyond consumption after a minimum level has been reached) that are constituents of wellbeing (O'Neill, 2006)" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2017: 44). Following the literature, it seems accurate to believe that "the chance of wide-scale societal shifts in behavior are negligible without changes in the social structure" (Jackson, 2016: 203) that could offer "people viable alternatives to the consumer way of life (...)" (Jackson, 2016: 204).

As stressed by Wilhite (2017), "to make a low carbon transformation, a focus on changes at the top—in the growth politics of capitalism—must be supplemented by changes in everyday

practices that have emerged within capitalist political economies (p.3). Max-Neef objective wellbeing perspective and the social practice theory are consistent with this assumption which emphases the fact that change is political as well as individual. The objective approach to wellbeing and the concept of satisfiers allows for an individual (buy local food) and collective (being part of a group) apprehension of the ways of satisfying needs, as well as an understanding of the broad contexts (cooperative housing) and situations (living in a house with an outdoor space) that allows this satisfaction. The social practice theory allows for the recognition of the elements of practices that are specific to an individual (mental dispositions) but linked to broader arrangements (institutions or norms in place). The association of Max-Neef's objective approach to wellbeing (1991) and the social practice theoretical reflections (Wilhite 2013) appears to be consistent. Indeed, it allows to discuss the social practices as a mean to reach the normative goal of human need satisfaction. As stressed in a recent study on green public places and wellbeing (Sahakian, Anantharaman, Di Giulio et al., 2020), the (sustainable) practices help to satisfy needs. In that direction, an interesting way to address the *double dividend* is through the understanding of such practices in relation to wellbeing. This is all the more relevant as the purpose of this work is to show how changes in practices advocated by the degrowth paradigm(s) have a positive impact on wellbeing and are not so difficult to achieve and extend.

METHODOLOGY

EMPIRICAL FRAMEWORK

For the purpose of studying consumption reduction and especially degrowth in relation to wellbeing, my empirical study focuses on the Degrowth movement in Geneva and related networks in the region.

The Geneva degrowth movement (Réseau d'objection de croissance - ROC)² is a "politically, economically and religiously independent" initiative. Its core objectives are "to free society from the dogma of unlimited growth, to challenge its doctrine, to promote respectful thinking about life on earth and future generations, and to develop a societal and economic alternative in harmony with the limits of the planet and the needs of humanity."³ The movement holds on various engagements around natural resources management, equality and solidarity, a reappropriation as well as the relocation of the economy and the system, the conservation and sharing of knowledge, a de-commodification of social relations, the development of education, culture and arts, a more frugal and less resource-intensive lifestyle and a reappropriation of time, among other claims.

By including people both directly and indirectly affiliated with the Geneva degrowth network (ROC), my aim was to capture different life situations and implication levels in the degrowth paradigm. While a study only focused on the degrowth movement itself would have allowed a deep understanding of a community of

² Platform of ROC-Genève: http://decroissance.ch/plateforme-roc-ge/

³ Platform of ROC-Genève: http://decroissance.ch/plateforme-roc-ge/

practices, opening up the field work to a broader network allows for an understanding of the implication of other forms of communities in the degrowth practices and in the path toward wellbeing. Therefore, through the contact and recruitment processes, the goal was to engage with people with diversified profiles, to make sure the research would cover several types of lifestyles, habits and situations. The concern was to "not only consider radical individuals (...) but also individuals caught up in contemporary social logic" (Mège, 2017: 67).

As shown in the conceptual framework section, this research is based to a large extent on Max-Neef's theoretical work but also methodology. In that respect, a major part of the field work interviews and discussions were based on the matrix of fundamental human needs, which was made available to participants before the meetings. Given the time constraints around this Master thesis, only one-to-one interviews were conducted, which represented the most relevant way to gather relevant information while organizing a decent number of interviews in a short time, in contrast to the initial methodology of Max-Neef that recommends participatory workshops lasting for three or four full days. These participatory workshops could be organized in the context of a following research, allowing more time to organize several few-days meetings with a large proportion of people willing to attend and participate.

SAMPLING STRATEGY AND CONTACT

The goal was to gather people from the Degrowth movement of Geneva (ROC: Réseau d'objection de Croisssance) and its surrounding network. More specifically, the emphasis was made on people that 1) were living in Geneva at the time of the interview 2) and were the individual in charge in their household. The purpose was to gather a sample that stands for diversity, though not representative. In fact, the study is exploratory and only seeks to unveil some valuable insights about following a degrowth path, and has no claim for comprehensive representativeness. The

sample is composed of very different people in term of age, education, occupation, income, family situation, housing situation, residential location (city center, suburb), different variables to be taken into account that are likely to influence practices

I contacted a few people that had been recommended to me by the academic community through email. Some of them answered and it allowed me to create a snowball effect as the individuals contacted introduced "other people to take part in the research" (Naderifar et al., 2017). Usually used when "the population of interest is a hard-to-reach group" (Elliot et al., 2016), this method allowed access to people involved in the ROC or in a degrowth way of living that may have been difficult to get access to otherwise. When this snowball effect sampling reached saturation (with a total of seven initial contacts), I directly contacted the ROC, and a contact person there accepted to post a presentation of my research as well as my contact details in their monthly newsletter. I thus received a few messages from people who were interested in being part of the research. It turned out to be very difficult to find people in the close or surrounding network of the ROC that lived in Geneva and were willing to participate in the study. Therefore, I decided to extend the research to the Vaud area and for one participant around the boarder with France.

PARTICIPANTS

At the end of the recruitment, 11 people were willing to participate in an oral interview via digital platform due to the sanitary situation. The participants were part of the degrowth movement in Geneva or its surrounding network. They themselves claimed to be in a degrowth path and were not labelled as such by the researcher (Mège, 2017: 67).

The participants were all French speaking people and really diverse in term of age, education, occupation, rate of occupation, family situation or housing situation. An effort was made to recruit people with rather distinctive profiles regarding several important dimensions. Regarding the household income levels, they were distinct, ranging from rather low income (relatively to the number of people in the household) to rather substantial levels. However, the majority of the participants can be situated in the higher level of household income.

Even if it could represent a bias, this is also an interesting bias as the literature on consumption underlines the fact that higher incomes often lead to higher consumption. In addition, the literature also stresses that the people with the higher incomes are not always the more willing to change, and don't always feel good about changing, as Guillen-Royo stressed by Guillen-Royo (2010: 390). Conversely, a bias about inequalities in term of economic possibilities or time availability for example is often pointed out when discussing degrowth. In fact, it is argued to be easier for the richer to stand for "living degrowth" (Brossmann and Islar, 2020) as their basic needs are largely satisfied so they have the time and the energy to think about shifting practices and having less. It then seems interesting to unveil how people that have comfortable income reflect about their consumption practices. In addition, Switzerland is considered as being a rich country, and this sample simply allows to reflect that situation.

INTERVIEWS

The interviews were semi-structured, in-depth and one-to-one, via Zoom or Skype depending on the interviewees' preference, as inperson meetings were not recommended during the Covid-19 semi-confinement measures in Switzerland. The methodology, inspired by Max-Neef (1991), was used slightly differently than what was originally intended. But nonetheless, as Max-Neef puts it, the "measure of need satisfaction can be aggregated to assess the well-being of populations, but their fundamental unit is the individual or individuals in household" (Gough, 2017: 56). To save time and make the interviews easier for both parties, an email was sent one week before each interview to allow the participants to familiarize with the research and prepare for the interview. This message

included a precise document that presented the research with more details so they could get familiar with the topic and the different concepts that were going to be brought up during the interview. In addition, beyond the consent form that was attached to make sure everyone was willing to be part of the research and to be registered for later transcription and analysis, a French version of Max-Neef's matrix (translated by myself—Appendix 2) was sent to every participant that accepted to be interviewed. This allowed to save some time as the participants were able to read through the document in advance and understand it prior to the interview, thus making sure everything was clear for the meeting day. This was also meant to build trust with the interviewee, as it represented a second contact (after the recruitment) before the day of the interview.

Every interview started with a small discussion about the research and its purpose, within which was brought up the fact that during the whole interview, that lasted between 1h20 and 2h40, no judgment or moralistic stance were going to take place. This small discussion also allowed the interviewees to ask questions, to comment on the subject and to share whatever thought they had in mind concerning the research and the upcoming interview. The interviews were conducted in French and started with a question that allowed the participant to explain openly why she or he came to adhere to degrowth, to follow information or even to participate in actions related to degrowth. As the interviewees were not equally active in the degrowth movement in Geneva, and for some of them not even part of it at all, it was a way to understand their degree of participation in degrowth action and their relative involvement and acknowledgement of the ideas of the broader degrowth theory. It allowed every participant to describe how they came to degrowth, through which step, and to highlight what was difficult in the process.

This constituted a good introduction to continue with the first actual section of the interview that was about consumption reduction and social practices. In this section, the interviewees were asked about their practices about food, housing and mobility. The interest was to unveil what practices were important for them in their (more or less ambitious) degrowth lifestyle, and what was helping or hindering those specific practices. The discussion was then open to other potential consumption domains that seemed important for the participants. A last question concluded this section by querying about the elements that motivate their practices, be they environmental, social, economic, about a wellbeing utopia (Wilhite, 2016: 312), or anything else.

The second section was the main component of the interview as it was the one linking the degrowth practices and the idea of wellbeing. After a few general questions that allowed the participants to discuss about their consumption reduction and wellbeing, this part relied almost entirely on Max-Neel's matrix of fundamental human needs. The interviewees were asked in what ways their lifestyle allowed them to satisfy the nine needs brought up by Max-Neef: Subsistence, Protection, Affection, Understanding, Participation, Leisure, Creation, Identity, Freedom. Restating the practices that were mentioned in the first part, or bringing up new ones, the participants were able to fill out the matrix of needs with their own satisfiers, corresponding to their practices and living situation. The interview guide supported them in doing so as it gave some examples of satisfiers, inspired by Max-Neel's work (1991: 32-33) but also others' (Pelenc, 2014: 12; Guillen-Royo, 2010: 392). The last question composing this section was meant to make the participants reflect on limits (Kallis, 2019) and what they represent for them in their everyday life.

Finally, the last section of the interview was a concluding one that allowed a discussion about degrowth, the future and the unprecedented sanitary situation happening at the time. Each interview was concluded by a short socio-demographic survey to understand the participants' profile, if it had not been discussed yet during the interview. At the end of the interview, each participant was acquainted that she or he could get in contact for any further reflection or discussion.

Regarding the interview guide, it was initially written in French as all of the participants were French speaking people, and was later on translated so it could match the language of the present report. The interview guide can be found translated in English as Appendix 3. The participants' quotes were translated from French to English when used for the purpose of the paper.

POTENTIAL OUTCOMES

Each question of the interview was designed to answer the set of subquestions highlighted on page 21, together answering the broader research question: In what ways can consumption reduction practices impact sustainable wellbeing?

The first section of the interview, namely the one about degrowth practices, allows to answer the first two sub questions: What practices of consumption reduction are significant for Degrowth? and What are the elements that support or hinder those specific practices? This will then result in a specific section of the analysis about degrowth and degrowth practices. The second section of the interview, namely the one about wellbeing and Max-Neel's matrix allows to answer the two other sub questions: What is the impact of those practices on sustainable wellbeing? and What insights can be unveiled to promote consumption reduction while supporting the goal of sustainable wellbeing? This will then be translated into a second analysis section that will unveil the ways through which degrowth practices impact wellbeing. The introduction question and the last section of the interview about the future and the pandemic were going to be useful to reflect on the different visions of degrowth brought up by the several participants and for the discussion section.

ANALYSIS

The interviews described above were analyzed through basic qualitative content analysis. A codebook was created in order to make

the analysis of the 11 interviews easier and consistent. This codebook was designed first from the general understanding of the field work and the substantial insights that came out of it. Then, the interview guide, as it had been specifically produced in order to answer each one of the research questions, was considered to add to the codebook. Finally, a more precise look at the interviews allowed to complete the codebook as well as building a first draft of the analysis plot. Exactly as Guillen-Royo noted for her own work, "groups of satisfiers or themes emerged and were used as guidance for the analysis of the (...) transcript(s)" (Guillen-Royo, 2010: 387). The interviews were analyzed according to this codebook. Throughout the coding, new insights emerged and a few more codes were added. The final codebook is composed of 6 categories, 25 codes and 18 sub codes that are meant to address the various issues relevant to this work and allow to answer precisely the research questions.

Beyond the classical content analysis of the interviews, the interview guide had the specific goal of helping to create a wellbeing matrix of degrowth, based on Max Neef's matrix and specific to this research, as it has been proposed in diverse works (Pelenc, 2014: 12 for example). Based on the data gathered through interviews, this matrix would present the degrowth practices highlighted according to the needs they satisfy for the individuals. Aggregation of all the practices would allow the creation of a matrix that could serve different goals: communication, practical explanation, discourse writing, etc. to promote degrowth. This matrix will serve as an introduction to the analysis, as it's a way to consider both the theoretical and conceptual framework, as well as the methodology and the empirical work to answer the research question.

This methodology section was designed in order to help with the understanding of the empirical framework preferred for this research. It emphasizes the recruitment and field work processes as well as the challenges faced due to the unique sanitary situation. Then, it presents the procedure of contact with people involved in the ROC and the final participants' characteristics that are critical for the purpose of the research. Finally, it helps with a preliminary apprehension of the potential outcomes that could be drawn from the field work and the way they will be analyzed and discussed.

RESULTS

To contextualize, the first section of the analysis will briefly present the complexity of the degrowth paradigm through the principles and the practices highlighted in the interviews. Then, it will expose the considerations about the elements that compose practices and either hinder or support their development. The second section will concentrate on wellbeing, which is the focus of this study, to present how "living degrowth" helps the satisfaction of human needs.

To better understand the group of people interviewed who will be discussed below, it is worth mentioning some of their characteristics that could serve the apprehension of the analysis. Out of eleven participants, two live in a cooperative, two in small apartments, and the seven remaining are tenant of detached houses. Nine of the people interviewed have access to an outdoor space. Regarding mobility, seven out of eleven people interviewed don't have a car, and the others use it really rarely if necessary. Four out of eleven people have between two and three children that range from one to twenty years old. Only one of the interviewees works at a rate that nears 100%, but not all year long. The others are either part time or work on punctual assignments.

MULTIPLE DEGROWTH

People follow a degrowth path for various reasons and in different ways, and this diversity in degrowth practices will be the focus of this first section, presenting the various ideas and interpretations of degrowth brought up by the participants. This will be followed by a consideration of the different practices that are adopted by those participants and how they relate to the different elements that compose practices.

As Latouche puts it, "it is necessary to take note of the now planetary extension of the degrowth project" (2019: 20) and of the fact that it is not an alternative but a matrix of alternatives to globalized capitalism. This idea was broadly supported by the various participants who underlined the fact that even if there is a common grounded paradigm around degrowth more or less shared by its supporters, it is not always as simple as it looks. One of them expressed it that way:

There are people who think a bit like us in the sense that we question the system in which we live, in that sense it is people who think like us, but on the other hand from the moment we question this system, it is a lot more complex (...). There are not two possibilities, there are an infinite number of possibilities, and as we start questioning capitalism, there are multitudes of ways of seeing and thinking that are different and specific to each (...) (Valentin, involved in the ROC, interviewed on the 28.04.2020).

"There's no degrowth with a big D, there's no lifestyle, really each person is respected in their way of seeing things", (Lynn, involved in the ROC, interviewed on the 22.04.2020), and that is what makes degrowth so complex and interesting. Offering several alternatives to the present capitalist system, the degrowth paradigm(s) and principles can allow very interesting discussion and debates around various subjects, fed by divergent understandings of degrowth and the social norms it contests. On one hand, this variety of alternatives can be considered as a positive situation as it is "really enriching" as expressed by an interviewee that is very active in the ROC and who states:

We discuss among ourselves because we agree (...) to question the current system, that's the common point, but on the other hand there can be other points on which we are more or less in disagreement but nonetheless a rich terrain for discussion (*Valentin*).

On the other hand, so many understandings and interpretations of degrowth can be confusing and make it difficult to feel involved. One of the interviewee who is not active in the ROC but would like to find a way to get collectively involved in degrowth affirms that "there's a lot of life around these issues of degrowth, environment etc. but it's extremely dispersed and extremely diffuse (...) even when we agree more or less on our values, our principles, people will try to stand out or to be different and so sometimes we don't have the impression of being together" (Ethan, not directly involved in the ROC, interviewed on the 23.04.2020).

The participants are themselves very divergent about their perception of degrowth and their level of implication regarding this paradigm or in adhering to its principles. One of the participants, who is a father of three, claimed:

Let's say that I'm not exactly an extremist, first of all I have a family with three children, so it's true that children are also a big problem (...), that children encourage consumption (*Ethan*).

Some of the interviewees don't even feel completely embedded into such a process and legitimate to claim so when others, on the contrary, have been collectively involved in degrowth for many years. Some of the participants see degrowth as the process of working less, earning less and consuming less, when others see it as only consuming less and better, as one of the interviewees puts it: "I don't know if it's related to degrowth, it's more about animal suffering that made me think about it, but it's related to degrowth" (Sam, interviewed on the 28.04.2020). Some of them consider degrowth as an alternative form of development: "Degrowth means slowing down but it is not the opposite of growth. Degrowth is another way of doing development, based on specific principles, by reducing speed" (Sam), when others are completely against any form of development at all.

Also, there are divergences in how people came to adhere to the degrowth principles, becoming familiar with these ideas and practices through different processes: through family, education, work, ecological concerns, etc. They entered a degrowth process when they were either really young, young adults or when they first had children. Some are more concerned about the environment as their choices are "above all for ecology" (Lynn). Others clearly declare that their choices have little to do with the protection of the planet and that their understanding of degrowth is much broader than that:

So it's not for the planet, for me it's a way of looking at things that's completely out of place, it's the whole, there's not one area that's more important than the other, the total of it in the end, it's an overall coherence (*Charles, active member of the ROC, interviewed on the 23.04.2020*).

Others bring up some more disembodied reflection around it: "in the beginning there was a spiritual aspect to it, trying to stay focused on what's essential, what really brings me fulfillment, avoiding all the superfluous, the distractions (...)" (Michelle, interviewed on the 07.05.2020). In the end, the common point shared by almost all the participants is that they pursue degrowth for "[various] reasons, whether they're energy-related, social, ecological, ethical, it's all of it. (...)" there is not "one area [that] takes precedence over the others" (Gaspard, interviewed on the 04.05.2020).

Finally, we can say that the participants also differ regarding their relationship to limits, which is an important concept when considering degrowth (Kallis, 2019). Some of them see limits as external, in term of resources: "I am conscious of the limits and that consciousness make me cut down on my consumption" (Ethan). Others follow Kallis' point of view that we shouldn't consider the limits as external, but instead take responsibility for them (2019) and see them as internal and personal: "Limits are conquests and I don't consider them as limits because I impose them to myself" (Mark, active member of the ROC, interviewed on the 21.04.2020).

Following the discussion about the different considerations around degrowth brought up by the interviewees, an analysis of their daily practices will allow a deeper understanding of what degrowth means for them and nurture the next section about wellbeing in everyday life. As one of the interviewees put it, "everyone has (her or his) own way of living [degrowth] also because it is very difficult

today to live 100% in degrowth, so everyone takes care of a certain percent of the thing" (Lynn). That mirrors the fact that there are many practices that can be ascribed to degrowth, even if people don't necessarily see them as such. As Gough puts it about a *salutaire* (salutogenic) degrowth process, "this will entail radical shifts in the basic institutions of society: not only less, but different" (Gough, 2017: 171). This highlights the fact that degrowth can mean less- or non-practices (i.e, reducing meat or not consuming meat), but also different and changing practices (i.e., switching from car to bike). The interviews allowed to unveil the individual as well as the collective dimensions of practices, capturing the diversified people's ways of "living degrowth" in relation to specific consumption areas. This concept of "living degrowth", that was studied by Brossmann and Islar in their investigation on degrowth practices drawing on practice theory (2020), was mentioned by a participant in this study and will be used in this analysis to describe the "forms of living" (Brossmann and Islar, 2020) brought up by the various interviewees.

This work will focus on three high impact categories of consumption: food, transport (also related to as mobility), and heating homes (considering heating homes within the broader area of housing). However, it also allows some space for the consideration of other domains of consumption that were brought up by the participants so to apprehend every practice that is meaningful to them.

Food

When talking about food (related to provisioning, preparing and eating), the practices of consuming less and better were very similar between the interviewees. The growth of fruits and vegetables at home to avoid as much consumption and spending as possible was the most common practice. This was accompanied by the consumption of very basic foods that require little spending and more home-made cooking. When buying food, the interviewees turned to cooperative grocery shops, of which they are members

most of the time, and local and organic food options. They try to avoid supermarkets and favor short food-supply chains (vegetables gardeners for example). The boycott of specific brands came up as an important practice, as well as trying to reduce packaging by shopping in bulk stores for example. The practice of reducing meat consumption was a common ground between the participants. Some of them follow specific diets, vegetarian and vegan most of the time. Finally, and maybe most importantly, the process of avoiding overconsumption and waste was essential, as expressed by an interviewee who lives with his wife and their three daughters: "We never have a full fridge, it's almost empty, and the idea is to always make [food] with what's available" (Ethan).

Housing

Regarding housing (related to the practices of heating the home, doing laundry, etc.), there are two categories of practices that can be unveiled from the interviews: the way people choose their home and where they want to live, and how they manage their home and housing arrangements.

Regarding accommodation and location, some of the participants make really crucial choices when moving to a place which resonates with Mège's statement about "the importance given to the place of life (...) for its capacity to become a place conducive to the realization of the practices (...)" (2017: 76). First, they may try to go for smaller dwelling as an interviewee living in a small apartment by himself expressed it:

I try to keep (my dwelling) as small as possible, to have a living area where I don't have to heat it up too much so that I have a footprint that's as small as possible (Gaspard).

Another practice that is prevalent among the participants, and more broadly supported by the degrowth paradigm(s), is living in a cooperative, which represents many advantages in term of consumption reduction. Indeed, as stressed by Kadriu and Wendorf

(2011), it provides "good housing at affordable rates regarding the loan maintenance and repairing costs" (p.6), it supposes technological changes and better management in terms of energy consumption (p.7) and overall energy savings as they promote longterm and non-profit calculation of investments (p.17). Finally, more broadly, cooperative housing spaces are argued to motivate the members and stimulating and organizing sustainable consumption (common use of facilities, car sharing, gardening...) (p.17). Also, choosing a place that offers an outdoor space is important, particularly when we think of housing practices as related to food and the opportunities that an outdoor space offers (a garden to grow vegetables, to raise chickens for eggs...). Finally, living next to the workplace is a choice that seemed crucial for most of the interviewees, as stated by a participant who said to be ready to move anywhere for work: "it wouldn't occur to me to live away from my work" (Charles, living in a cooperative in Geneva city center). Here, it is interesting to note how this location choice can be related to other practices. Indeed, people who chose to live in the city will be able to go food shopping by walking or biking, when people living in the countryside may find it a bit more difficult to reach supermarkets or stores. They will have to use a car, but in turn this may allow them to shop more and less often, and maybe also to have a facilitated access to direct selling of fruits and vegetables for example. This is crucial as it shows how practices are inter-locked, especially housing, food and mobility, and how each of them can impact others.

Concerning how people manage their home and related appliances—as part of the material arrangements that make up practices—one main environmental concern when discussing housing that was largely acknowledged by the interviewees is around heating the space. The first practice that can be unveiled from the interviews in the process of consuming as little energy as possible is related to buying more efficient appliances that consume less, as expressed by a participant who lives with his wife and their three teenage children: "when we bought a fridge, we bought one that doesn't have a freezer and it consumes very little" (Mark, living in a cooperative with his wife and their three teenage children). Relating to material arrangements,

interviewees also described their inventive cooking techniques to consume less:

I have a technique to keep the heat when I cook, I boil and then I put a kind of blanket I made with wool and cotton to insulate (...) I love it because then I don't have to watch it and it's economical (Lynn, launching her own project to sell homemade dishes).

Another technique to avoid overconsumption in the home brought up during the interviews relies in the use of strategies to feel warm at home. This practice of 'keeping warm' was studied in the ENERGISE project in 2019 that investigated the different strategies people put in place to feel warm and comfortable at home at rather low temperatures (Sahakian et al., 2019). In that direction, one of the participants expressed her way of doing so: 'I am not particularly looking for warmth, but this winter I thought it was a bit cold, so I added an extra jumper" (Roxane, interviewed via Zoom the 27.04.2020, living in a detached house in the Geneva countryside). Here, it is interesting to note that the material arrangement represented by the sweater interacts with the skill of dressing up developed to feel warm and reach the norm of comfort.

MOBILITY

Regarding mobility (related to the practice of getting around), the interviews highlighted two categories as distinct: everyday mobility practices and occasional mobility practices.

About everyday mobility practices, they mostly relate to work and social life. The interviews unveiled that very few of the participants use a car and that most of them use public transport or soft mobility, such as bike or walking, to move around. Here, a relation can be found between the practice of choosing a living space and the practice of mobility, as a participant puts it:

If you tell yourself in advance that a car is a proof of failure, then you're not going to buy that house in the countryside where there's no train and no bus (...) (Mark, who has no car).

Then, regarding getting about through soft mobility, a participant emphasized that "it's [about] the comfort", he "find[s] that the first reward when we move on foot or by bicycle is that we have our head for ourselves" (Mark), in that it allows time for mental reflection and relaxation. These mobility practices can also, as stated earlier, be interrelated with food practices such as provisioning for example, as one will not shop the same if moving around by bike or by car. Another practice related to everyday mobility that was exposed during the interviews is the fact of working from home, thus avoiding everyday mobility while increasing wellbeing. Two of the interviewees (Lynn and Michelle) who are entrepreneurs work full time from home. Three of the interviewees for whom assignments represent part or all of their activity work part time or full time from home (Mark, Sam and Gaspard). Another interviewee (Thomas) is a student and work mostly from home. All other participants, except from the ones who have a job that don't allow them to stay home (Charles and Valentin), work from home at least occasionally (this represents their work situation outside of the Covid and semi-lock down circumstances).

The second category that can be considered when talking about mobility is the occasional transit to go on business or leisure trips. Participants made it clear that the most essential matter for them was to go on a plane as little as possible, and never for small trips. Also, if they were to take a plane for work for example, they would try to make the most of the work trip by organizing holidays right after. The discussions around sporadic mobility practices during the interviews also led to discourses about train travel, which was considered as a positive alternative and expressed as such by most of the participants. One woman affirmed that when traveling by train, "the trip is part of the vacation, whereas [by plane] the trip was the hassle of finally arriving on vacation" (Barbara, interviewed on the 08.05.2020, living with her husband and their two young children). With

the train, "the adventure begins, when you put the key in to lock the door" (Barbara). Another means of moving around for business or leisure trips brought up by three of the participants is the practice of car sharing, which was mostly expressed by those who don't own a car and don't have children.

Other practices have been brought up as essential during the interviews, related to other consumption domains, mostly leisure, clothing and internet. A participant talked about the consumption of leisure time that he and his partner try to escape from: "people tend to always run after it, but we don't" (Valentin, living in the Geneva countryside with his partner). About the clothing area, the "social and environmental costs" (Barbara, who used to love shopping but not anymore) seemed important for most of the interviewees, who then mostly try to buy second hand and to take good care of their clothes. Finally, the internet seemed to be an important area of consumption which the participants try to be aware of, mostly in terms of indirect costs of energy usage.

A participant reflected more broadly that "it is not [only] about buying or not buying something, it's about how you use it (...) so it lasts longer" (Thomas, student interviewed on the 27.04.2020), which represents an important dimension of consumption practices with regard to every consumption area.

Those practices, regardless of the consumption domain they correspond to, are composed of various elements that range from competencies and material arrangements to social norms, as highlighted in the conceptual framework. This last section of the analysis on the various forms of degrowth aims at understanding the elements that compose practices that were highlighted the most in the interviews. The concern is to expose the elements that seem to support the degrowth practices mentioned during the interviews and to unveil what elements may hinder their development.

I don't feel like there's that many things that help me, because it's kind of my lifestyle (*Gaspard*).

Even if this is what was brought up most of the time by the participants, some elements came up that seem to support sustainable and especially degrowth practices.

The teleoaffective dimensions of practices are of substantial help. Here, we think of the "cognitive processes and physical dispositions, acquired by the body through social experiences" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 28). The development of strong competencies through various means seems to be the key to support the practices lived by the interviewees and more broadly those promoted by the degrowth paradigm(s). The competencies may have been uncovered alone or within the household through the process toward better consumption: "it's clear that we're in an experimental logic, all the time" (Ethan). They may have been learnt through the internet and various exchange platform: "On the internet I find a lot of recipes or tips, techniques and ideas in general. For example, I'd like to make dried meat, so I'm going to look at some layout to make a dryer" (Lynn, lives in the countryside near Lausanne), or during formal courses or workshops: "what helped me is that I took a course in organic vegetarian cooking, it helped me a lot with the new products I didn't knew about" (Roxane, interviewed on the 27.04.2020, who has lived for a few months in a transition village where she learnt a lot about alternative living). Finally, those teleoaffective elements brought up during the interviews can be delivered by people, especially neighbors and acquaintances and friends that bring a knowledge that is different and has even more meaning: "my 19-year-old son, he is very convinced, convincing, committed, and has integrity, so he is our guide" (Mark). The same participant who has been living with his family in a cooperative for years also stated: "what helps us is to be in a building with people who think pretty much like that (degrowth)".

It is worth mentioning that there is a normative dimension to degrowth. As stated earlier, degrowth has multiple meanings and when it comes to adhering to social norms around it, people are either for something (less consumption) or against something (capitalism). Then, when it comes to the meanings tied up with many of the practices that make up everyday life—cooking, getting around, heating, entertaining, taking holidays—social norms

are opposed to degrowth principles, and it is difficult for people who want to "live degrowth" to contest them. This can have some negative consequences, as stated by one of the participants when asked about the obstacles he encounters regarding his practices: "Difficulties? mainly social! We are very quickly considered as marginal" (Valentin). In sum, the social norms dimension of practices doesn't seem to be of great help for the purpose of supporting degrowth as most of the degrowth claims, by definition, go against the mainstream existing norms.

The material arrangements, namely the "the objects and technologies involved in consumption practices" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 29), in their current configuration, seem to hinder the reduction of consumption practices. Indeed, the lack of supply and the composition of the offer for food for example doesn't seem to lead towards degrowth practices, as one of the participants put it when talking about the few bulk store available in town: "if I have to go across town with my jars to the bulk store and back across town to my house, my waste of time isn't worth the bulk" (Michelle). Another participant talks about the composition of the offer stressing that "it's pretty poor what's in the shops, it's carrots and fennels, it's leeks, and necessarily when I eat wild plants, I have a greater diversity in my diet" (Lynn, who learnt to recognize wild plant to collect and consume). Regarding mobility, we can come to the same conclusion about the material arrangements in place, as the train is relatively costly, "more expensive than flying and harder", and the offer is such that "we're being pushed to fly, we're getting lower and lower costs and the alternatives are getting harder and harder" (Barbara). The same observation can be made about soft mobility, as one of the participants put it about riding a bicycle in Geneva: "If you're a cyclist in Geneva you have to be brave, you don't have to be afraid of risk" (Thomas, who used to go to the university with an electric scooter). Finally, the same can be considered for housing practices, as for example "the houses we have are not insulated" (Lynn, who lives in a rather old house), which represents another evidence that material arrangements in place are elements of practices that need to be shifted on some dimensions to be able to help the formation and perpetuation of consumption reduction practices. However, the material dimensions of practices seem to

represent a substantial help in some cases and for some people, as a few participants mentioned it as supporting their practices. The existence of cooperative housing options is a good example that shows how material arrangements in place support degrowth practices. Also, as stated by an interviewee, the "existence, the mere presence of shops like Nature en Vrac and the farm of Budé is a filtering that's already done" (Mark) and that helps towards more responsible food practices.

Those are some examples of elements that can have a positive or a negative impact regarding the development of responsible and even degrowth practices. It gives an idea of ways in which a shift could occur in relation to teleoaffective structure, social norms, and material arrangements to broadly develop the practices mentioned earlier. The development of such practices could enable the satisfaction of specific needs towards the normative aim of wellbeing. Indeed, as it will be discussed in the next part of the analysis, "living degrowth" tends to satisfy a number of essential needs, and the expansion of such practices seems to be a potential direction towards the effort of (sustainable) wellbeing.

DEGROWTH AND NEEDS SATISFACTION

The purpose of this new section will be to unveil what was highlighted in the interviews regarding practices in relation to the concepts of wellbeing and needs satisfaction.

A MATRIX OF WELLBEING AND DEGROWTH

What would degrowth practice towards need satisfaction look like? This following matrix is an attempt to fill out Max-Neef's 'boxes' (1991) in his needs-meets-satisfier matrix with all forms of being, having, doing and interacting that emerged from my interviews with people that claim to "live degrowth". These "forms of living" can be considered as satisfiers, including for Max-Neef "among other things, forms of organization, political structures,

social practices, subjective conditions, values and norms, spaces, contexts, modes, types of behavior and attitudes (...)" (Max-Neef, 1991: 24). Following Max-Neef's theory of human scale development, we can say that those satisfiers are considered to have an impact on need satisfaction and therefore on wellbeing. The ones in black are the ones that impact positively the satisfaction of needs, and the ones in red are those that impact it negatively. Some satisfiers originally associated with degrowth (after studying the literature on degrowth) were first thought to impact negatively the satisfaction of certain needs (living environment, social settings, dwelling, work, values...), other to impact it positively (sense of belonging, spaces for expression...), and other to either impact positively or negatively depending on the situation (friendships, family...). It turned out that most of the satisfiers originally hypothesized as 'negative' regarding wellbeing actually impact positively the satisfaction of needs, which represents an interesting observation that shows the interest of challenging prejudices and examining degrowth in relation to wellbeing.

This matrix of wellbeing and degrowth highlights the role in satisfying wellbeing of the practices around food, housing and mobility discussed earlier but also broader habits and routines. The whole will be discussed below in more detail, focusing on each need separately. Even if we could think that everyday practices are only represented by the different forms of doing highlighted in the matrix, the other existential categories of needs namely being, having and interacting can be composed of satisfiers that can be considered as practices such as going on a vegetarian diet, using short food supply chains or living in a cooperative.

Table 1: A Matrix of Wellbeing and Degrowth

Needs ac- cord- ing to axio- logical cate- gories	Needs ac- cord- ing to exis- tential cate- gories	BEING (B) (personal or collective attributes)	HAVING (H) (institutions, norms, tools)	DOING (D) (personal or collective actions)	INTER- ACTING (I) (spaces or atmos- pheres)
Subsis		¹ priority in immaterial needs, country ensures minimum subsistence, vegetarian diet	² free time, organic and local market, farm/producer, compost, part-time work, cooking time, short food supply chains	³ balance be- tween work and rest time, cook- ing, baking bread, buy- ing in bulk, wild harvest- ing, renovat- ing housing, paying a fair price for products, self-produc- tion, joint production	4 co-operative, flat sharing, garden, shared garden, balcony, vegetable garden with permaculture, campaign
Prote	ction	5 country ensures the subsistence minimum, know how to recog- nize plants (knowledge)	⁶ alternative bank, don't have savings, own property	⁷ feed one- self in na- ture, spend little, depend less on sav- ings, free oneself from material at- tachment	8 living in a village, inter- dependence with others

Affection	⁹ solidarity,	10 relations	11 working in	12 benevo-
	respect for	with fam-	an associa-	lence with
	the envi-	ily or close	tion, ex-	neighbors
	ronment	friends	changing	(coopera-
	and people,	(negotia-	skills (inter-	tive), shared
	being atten-	tion, con-	depend-	places in co-
	tive to the	troversial	ence), debat-	operative,
	well-being	discus-	ing, getting	conviviality,
	of others,	sions), re-	help/advice	sharing an
	loving one-	lations	(specific	apartment,
	self, benev-	with local	skills), going	part of a
	olence, hav-	merchants	to the li-	community
	ing radical		brary, expe-	(ROC), hav-
	ecological		riences in	ing a house
	positions		nature,	with an out-
			share/ex-	door space
			change	(greet peo-
				ple), com-
				munities of
				shared val-
				ues, commu-
				nity to share
				'sacrifices'
Understanding	13 to be crit-	14 to have	15 question-	16 infor-
	ical in rela-	time	ing one's	mation from
	tion to		way of life,	ROC, dis-
	one's criti-		exchanging	cussion with
	cal outlook,		skills, learn-	friends
	be objec-		ing to do it	(skills), rela-
	tive, experi-		yourself,	tionships in
	mental logic		learning,	co-operative
			(re)discover-	
			ing, self-	
			training,	
			questioning	
			oneself	
Participation	¹⁷ degrowth:	¹⁸ work,	¹⁹ creating	²⁰ use one's
	horizontal	volunteer-	alternatives,	opinion and
		ing	bringing	freedom of

	(feel lis-		people to-	expression
	tened to)		gether, de-	to do things
			bating,	(ROC), live
			changing	in a co-oper-
			(oneself)	ative, Green
				party
Leisure/Ildness	²¹ getting	²² associa-	²³ reducing	²⁴ coopera-
	back to ba-	tional	work time,	tive housing,
	sics	work, ac-	working on	free time
		tivities,	the house,	
		forest, un-	gardening,	
		paid lei-	biking, read-	
		sure activi-	ing, brico-	
		ties, part-	lage, do-it-	
		time work,	yourself	
Creation	²⁵ critical	²⁶ develop	²⁷ transmit-	28
	thinking, re-	intellectual	ting, making	
	sourceful-	abilities	clothes,	
	ness, ability		cooking,	
	to live with		self-imposed	
	little		constraints,	
			self-produc-	
			tion	
Identity	²⁹ ethics,	³⁰ have	³¹ make	³² ROC
	self-con-	more time,	something	(shared val-
	struction,	have fewer	that looks	ues), margin-
	self-respect	distrac-	like me	alization
		tions		(not finding
				one's place -
				neither
				among ex-
				tremists nor
				among oth-
				ers), rela-
				tionship to
				others
Freedom	33 rebel-	³⁴ have just	35 making	³⁶ coopera-
	liousness,	a few	choices,	tive housing
		things	spending	

self-emanci-	less money,
pation	working less,
	creating al-
	ternatives,
	understand-
	ing, becom-
	ing emanci-
	pated

Source: Max Neef, 1991 — Constructed by Orlane Moynat from the interviews

Before jumping into the analysis of needs satisfaction, it is essential to mention that the understanding of needs varied among the participants, and the same can be said for the understanding of satisfiers. The perception of needs was divergent for each interviewee. For example, the need for subsistence, that will be discussed in more details below, may be strongly connected to food and satisfiers regarding physical health for some people while others would link it to relationships with people and concentrate more on satisfiers regarding mental health. Regarding the satisfiers, people sometimes thought they were 'needs' gathered in categories and had some difficulties to understand the difference between the two concepts. The interviews and examples of satisfiers provided in the interview guide helped to lead their reflection towards the unveiling of their own satisfiers. It is also important to note that the following analysis about the satisfiers is based on the interviewees' interpretation of each need. If someone talked about a specific satisfier for the need for affection, this will be analyzed as a satisfier of the need for affection, and won't be displaced and bonded to any other need, and so on.

NEEDS SATISFACTION

Jackson and Marks stress that "the material needs are essentially the subsistence and protection needs (...)" (1999: 436) and refer to the remaining needs introduced by Max-Neef (1991) as non-material needs. This distinction, that was not raised by Max-Neef himself, could help classify the needs that are discussed below.

However, it shouldn't be what strictly distinguishes them as some needs considered as material can include non-material characteristics, just as needs considered as non-material can to a certain extent relate on material dimensions. Nonetheless, it seems relevant to keep this distinction in mind when discussing the satisfaction of needs in relation to consumption reduction.

It is also noteworthy to underline here that most patterns of consumption in Western countries appear "increasingly to implicate material artefacts in the attempted satisfaction of non-material needs" (Jackson and Marks, 1999: 437). As Jackson and Marks (1999) put it, "revisioning the way we satisfy our nonmaterial needs is (...) the most obvious avenue for renewing human development" (p.439). As a matter of fact, this shows why a study apprehending degrowth practices in relation to wellbeing is interesting, unveiling practices that allow to satisfy needs with alternatives to material goods.

Subsistence and Protection

The first two needs discussed during the interviews were the needs for subsistence and protection. They will be considered here together as they were related in the interviewees' responses, who often exposed the same ideas for both of the needs or even discussed them together. Here are a few insights raised by the interviewees about what help them to satisfy the needs for subsistence and protection in their everyday life.

For most of the interviewees, it seemed that whatever were their practices, income or living situation, the Swiss context helped them to feel protected and safe no matter what. This relates to the need for subsistence, as a participant puts it: "I feel I'm in a country that provides the basic necessities of life (...)" (Mark) as well as the need for protection: "I also feel completely safe because I'm in Geneva" (Mark). We can here stress the fact that the institutions, infrastructures and more broadly the context proposed in Switzerland help people to feel safe, regarding basic needs but also actual safety.

A second point regards the very basis of the degrowth paradigm: needs are simple, so easily fulfilled. Indeed, the need for subsistence requires a few spending to be fulfilled, as one participant puts it: "We don't need a lot of resources to meet that need (...)" (Ethan). As this first essential need appears to require less spending to be fulfilled, people need less money and savings, and feel protected with less, thus satisfying the need for protection at the same time. The point here is the idea that those two basic needs can be met with fewer resources.

Even if throughputs are reduced in a degrowth way of life, "the satisfaction of these needs requires material throughput" such as "material food, clothing fabrics [or] building materials" (Jackson and Marks, 1999: 436). A participant who was among the one promoting a simple lifestyle with little spending still expose this material dimension of need satisfaction:

The fact that I have a simple lifestyle makes it easier for me to put money aside as soon as I have a little bit of money, and gradually build up savings that are enough to have a trouble-free retirement (Michelle).

Here, the material dimension of practices is prevalent and useful to uncover where the satisfaction of material needs comes from. Indeed, as it was proved when describing the degrowth practices in the precedent section, "there may be more and less materially-intensive ways of providing foods, clothing and shelter" (Jackson and Marks, 1999: 436). This is useful to note in order to demonstrate that the reduction of consumption advocated by the degrowth paradigm(s) can also be lived without violating the essential needs for subsistence and protection. This can be illustrated by the practices of going to local food markets or buying an apartment in a cooperative for example.

Away from the material satisfaction of material needs, the interviews showed that material needs can also be satisfied in some ways by non-material goods and services. The most striking example of that takes us back to the teleoaffective dimension of practices, as the competencies and knowledge seem to go along with the satisfaction of the needs for subsistence and protection for most of the participants. One of the participants who learnt to recognize and collect wild plants remarked:

I did an internship; I did five days of survival and I read books and after that (...) I really had a great feeling of security that arose because I knew how to feed myself in the wild (Lynn).

Another interviewee, who is working a few days a week in exchange for a house feels very confident and safe with her skills:

I feel like I've got a lot of skills, and as everything can be learnt, I'm like ok I've got no more money saved, but I know that the day I am broken, and I have to go to work I can go to work anywhere (Roxane).

Another participant summarized this idea more broadly by stressing that money "becomes something less necessary [when] you're less dependent on saving as you're building alternative means to do without savings, to do otherwise" (Valentin).

Those quotes emphasize Jackson and Marks' belief (1999) that material needs are not necessarily only satisfied by material goods but can also be met through non-material practices (that in turn, however, sometimes rely on materials—internet connection and computer to work from home, bike or car that takes you to the countryside to pick wild plants, etc.). In addition to that, the research helped to stress the fact that freeing oneself from the material dependency can even have a positive impact and may represent a path towards wellbeing by satisfying other needs. In that direction, one of the participants stated the following:

I know from experience that the more objects we have (a house, a cottage and therefore a car), the more stressed we are, the more taxes we pay, the more things we have to repair or restore, the more we are dependent. I need freedom more than anything else in my life, and material attachment sometimes is a toxic attachment (Sam, interviewed on the 28.04.2020).

Affection

The first non-material need to be analyzed in relation to degrowth is the need for affection. The practice of being part of a community seems to be the most striking one when discussing the satisfaction of this need. As brought up by most of the participants, the ROC helps to find people who also question the system and who live and think in similar ways, thus allowing to develop strong relationships. A participant who has been involved in the ROC for several years emphasized the opportunity this community offers to fulfill the need for affection:

What I really like about the ROC in general is that (...) I find that there's a lot of love between people, a lot of kindness, they're very nice people and I really like the social aspect of the ROC (*Lynn*).

As some of the participants live in a cooperative, the interviews also helped to show how this form of community can support the need for affection. Following the pattern of the ROC or any community that gather people around common ideas and principles, the cooperative housing seems to offer the possibility to live in an environment of shared beliefs and values that bring people together. An interviewee living with his wife and their three children in a cooperative apartment declared:

We are among those who almost never lock the door, except at night (...) I think we benefit from an exceptional personal situation of benevolence with the neighbors (Mark).

This shows how the practice of living in a cooperative allows for meeting new people and creating relationships based on common convictions.

Even if it allows to create special bonds between people under specific circumstances, some practices and specific lifestyles advocated by the degrowth supporters can have an impact that is much less positive in terms of affection and relationships with others. Indeed, when talking about the need for affection, most of the participants came to the same conclusion: "living degrowth" helps to create bond with people within specific communities that promote shared values questioning the system. However, it can become a difficulty and a source of marginality when it comes to relationships with family and friends who don't particularly understand the promotion of "ideas that speak to the marginalized and not necessarily to the mainstream yet" (Roxane). One of the participants that stressed the advantages of following a degrowth process in his practices regarding the need for affection all the same acknowledged that it wasn't always easy:

With a drawback: I have in my family people who are highly consumerists, and that's not easy to live with, i.e., in family reunions it's always a bit tense, so I mean we each make an effort (Ethan).

Another participant even declared it created problem with a former partner:

I was leaning towards a certain lifestyle, and giving up on that was a problem for me, and that lifestyle frightened my girlfriend even though I wasn't imposing anything on her (Gaspard).

A participant summed it up pretty well:

Everything that concerns social needs we'll say, it's harder... I think it's a lot easier for a person who has a busy consumer life to build himself socially. It doesn't mean we can't belong to collectives, but we belong to a kind of collective where we have a label and we're considered a little different... (Lynn).

This resonate with Becker's study on deviance and the labelling theory raised in Outsiders (1963). He stresses that deviance is built in interaction, when one fails to obey the group's set of shared norms and values that constitute its homogenous culture. His theory exposes that the deviance appears when people violate those social norms (deviants) and are sanctioned by controlling authorities (others). This social control stigmatizes the individuals (or

group of individuals) who are considered as deviating from the mainstream norms and values and carry this social stigma. This creates stereotypes and stigmatization towards the group of deviants. This illustrates pretty well the situation raised by some participants who feel stigmatized and judged because "living degrowth" implies considering alternatives to mainstream lifestyles, norms and values.

Following the same idea, and as stressed before, "living degrowth" can create the feeling of not fitting anywhere because of the variation of opinions within the degrowth movement itself:

So sometimes you feel like you are kind of on your own (...) when you go to a community that's close to you in terms of values (...) well, you're confronted with a lot of different points of view (...) (Ethan).

Also, the gap between the radical movements and the mainstream norms can make oneself feel alone, as brought up by a participant:

I'm a little bit between two worlds: for radical ecologists I'm a 'bobo' because I live in a cooperative in the city center and for my neighbors I'm an extremist (*Charles*).

When asking about the opportunity of degrowth for satisfying the need for affection in everyday life, the same interviewee stated: "I wouldn't say that degrowth brings that, on the contrary it's better to be quite moderate" (Charles).

Yet, the practice of "living degrowth" seems to be an opportunity to (re)create a concrete relationship with nature that is favorable to satisfy the need for affection as it may compensate the possible negative impact on social relations. One of the participants remarked that "today the man/nature distinction is obsolete, [and] it is this distinction that has created a lot of problems" (Thomas), which is close to Rosa's (2018) reflection on resonance and relationship to nature and things. The same interviewee stated: "at least nature's here and it's going to stay for a while whereas the people in my life are coming and

going away unfortunately" (Thomas), because of his non-mainstream lifestyle.

Understanding

The second non-material need to be analyzed in relation to degrowth is the need for understanding.

As stressed by an interviewee, this may be "one of the most important points (...) from where the rest comes from" (Valentin). Practicing degrowth seems, for most of the participants, to help developing reflection and analytical mindset. One of them declared:

We have a way of life that is so much against the mainstream, against what's going on in the mainstream, that I think from the very beginning we're in a critical mindset (Gaspard).

It seems that reflecting around degrowth and questioning the system brings people to reflect on broader issues:

If the entry door of the subject which is degrowth pushes to ask questions on our environment, sooner or later everything else comes as well (*Valentin*).

Here, the interviewee argues that it allows to develop a critical reflection around the overall political and economic system, which is interesting in the context of the satisfaction of the need for understanding.

Also, being part of a community seems to be a good way to satisfy the need for understanding, as it offers the possibility for exchanging knowledge and learning as well as discovering new information. A participant discussing about the degrowth movement stressed that "it gives [her] access to information that [she] didn't necessarily come across" (Lynn). It seems to develop curiosity and allows for new experimentations: "understanding this kind of thing also sharpens the curiosity, it allows us afterwards to make tests, to experiment certain things" (Valentin). As underlined before, cooperative housing

is also a form of community which was pointed out by all the interviewees living in this type of accommodation as opening to discussions and offering a deeper understanding of situations and of oneself: "Living in a cooperative increases the speed at which you learn about yourself, to live better, to be well" (Mark, who has lived in a squat for ten years and now lives in a cooperative).

One last point that was outlined during the discussions about understanding is the opportunity that "living degrowth" offers to have free time, particularly because it promotes the reduction of working time and the development of spare time outside of the economic activity. This free time seems for all very important to think, discover, and understand:

I think one of the first things that counts is to have time, to have some free time. I have some free time (...) but it must be something that slows people down a lot, to think for themselves, to be curious (Mark).

One of the participants noted that "the understanding of all this (...) encourages to participate, to create something else, and to organize each other to be able to do just that" (Valentin), emphasizing the fact that needs are interlinked and connected to each other, and bringing us to the next section that analyzes the need for participation.

Participation

As described broadly by a participant, being involved in any way in degrowth "gives the impression that you can participate at your level, at least not participate in the destruction and all that is going on that shouldn't" (Lynn). Indeed, the interviews unveiled that "living degrowth" allowed in various way for the satisfaction of the need for participation. First, because as outlined before, it offers a space for questioning and debating: "we can participate in thinking because degrowth is a space for reflection" (Lynn). Most of the participants noted that the understanding that comes with their interests about degrowth encourages them to participate in any way possible:

It makes you want to participate, to do things. If you understand that there is a problem in this system, automatically it pushes you to try to participate to create alternatives (*Valentin*).

In that direction, most of the discussions ended up back to the concept of community, as the participants felt that engaging in active projects to create alternatives required the cooperation of a group: "being in one of those groups allows you to use your opinion and your freedom of expression to do things, that I wouldn't do on my own" (Gaspard). A participant, linking his involvement in the ROC to the need for participation, states:

The ROC is nice because at least you find people like you and that's where you can be launching petitions and then launch bigger movements (*Thomas*).

The same tendency was mentioned regarding cooperative housing, where people meet on a regular basis to debate about alternatives and make decisions about housing arrangements.

Some of the discussion ended up on a less positive note about "living degrowth" while satisfying the need for participation, as some of the participants find it difficult to identify space where they can have a voice. One of the participants, not involved in the ROC but who aspires to be more collectively involved in degrowth stated:

I am not a degrowth extremist, so I am not really recognized by my peers, and on the other hand I am too different to have all my freedom and a voice in a mainstream environment (Ethan).

Leisure

Another non-material need proposed by Max-Neef as contributing to wellbeing is the need for leisure.

One important point raised by the participants regarding this need is the practice of unpaid leisure. Most of them declared that they would avoid any "leisure consumption" (Valentin) and favor free activities that don't imply any act of consumption:

Reading takes a lot of time, or games too...or arts in general take time to develop and it consumes little material energy in the end compared to other stuff (*Thomas*).

This also entails, as was mentioned before, the (re)creation of a relationship with nature and the formation of the activity of discovering and enjoying the nature as a leisure practice: "Obviously my hobbies correlate with the way I see things, so I like to go out in nature" (Lynn).

Another point, linked to that human/nature relationship in a way, is the practice of traveling. Two dimensions that are somehow linked came up from the interviews in this regard: the choice of the location, and the mean for traveling. Most of the people confessed they tried to discover local regions and spaces as there is "no need to go far away to take a break" (Roxane). The travel location will then impact the choice of means of transport to travel, so this needs to be taken into consideration, as one of the participants mentioned it: "I choose my trips according to whether I can go there by train or by bike" (Roxane). The shifting of means of travel becomes something really positive regarding wellbeing, as seen before with the train. About travelling by bike, one of the participant states:

It's a slow time, it's a very pleasant time, it's not really meditation times because you don't think on a bike, you just have an empty mind, but it's really special, it's a kind of parenthesis (Ethan).

A third point with regards to leisure that represents one of the bases of the degrowth paradigm(s) concerns the discussion around work. Some of the participants declared they tried to find a job or shift to a job they would feel passionate about. One stated: "there is not a professional world where I sacrifice myself and then a world of leisure where I am not really who I am" (Mark). Another interviewee

who is in the process of professional reorientation is developing her "own project that somewhat embodies [her] vision of society" (Lynn). This follows what Mège stated as the practice of "reorienting one-self towards a profession in line with its passion" (2017: 73), which offers the possibility of satisfying the need for leisure while developing an economic activity that would allow to satisfy the very essential needs detailed earlier. Other participants were favoring the reduction of working hours, which allows to free some time for them to experience their passions and do things that really matter to them. About work time reduction, one of the participant states: "it's one of the things that's most important to me, I value time more than money, having time for myself" (Gaspard). He tries to work at most at 80% to have some free time, as it is enough to cover his basic needs and it releases some time "to do other things, for example to go to the Valais, spend time in nature".

A final point that may summarize pretty well this analysis of the leisure need is the process of re-appropriation of time (slowing time): enjoying the little things, avoiding the pressure, releasing from expectations. As one of the participants mentioned it, degrowth is really about "getting back to the ordinary" and "the ordinary can be rich" (Sam). For most of the interviewees, satisfying the need for leisure doesn't necessarily mean to complete as many activities as possible with what it implies in term of stress and pressure. A participant put it evidently:

In a degrowth vision, leisure doesn't necessarily means running all the time, having crazy activities. It can be settling down for a little while, having a book in your hands, having a drink with friends, having just simple things that are detached from the obligations of the daily routine, to be able to live them fully, live the moments of every day to the fullest (*Valentin*).

This supports Latouche's statement that "it is a matter of resurrecting the faculty of wonder at the beauty of the world that has been given to us, which productivism is plundering by predation and which consumerism is trying to destroy through commercial trivialization" (2019: 121).

Creation

Associated with the need for leisure is the creation dimension of wellbeing. A fundamental ground for "living degrowth" is the practice of doing it yourself, which requires some aspiration for creation, as stated by a participant: "I think that if I didn't like to create, I wouldn't be trying to do it myself" (Lynn). This shows that the very basis of the degrowth intention participate to the satisfaction of the need for creation. This process of 'do it yourself' also leads to the recognition of what was necessary to produce (vegetable garden), design (furniture or a house), or the development of skills regarding cooking or sewing for example. One of the participants, talking about his house he renovated for years before being able to live in it, noted the enjoyment of "being in a room and remembering the time and the energy it took... and [being] all the more satisfied to be there, to enjoy it and to know the work it represents" (Ethan, living in a renovated old house with his wife and their three daughters).

This links directly to a second point that is about the competencies and abilities that "living degrowth" brings along the way. More than representing specific practices of learning and developing abilities, those represent central elements that compose every practice that is essential in the process of creation. As stated by one of the participants, "learning to do it yourself is something pretty basic for self-reliance and resilience" (Lynn), so all the more crucial. In addition to the wish for creation, these competencies help to invent and imagine alternatives, which is essential when questioning and challenging the economic system in place. As put up by an interviewee, "our society is built in a way in which we come up against walls, there is a crucial lack of infrastructure that correspond to our sensitivity (degrowth)" (Lynn), which makes it necessary to be creative and learn to be so to come up with alternatives that allow to go beyond the constraints of society. Also, if we go back to considering the theory of Kallis (2019) that states that the limits can only be internal, it is interesting to share the thoughts of one of the participants about personal constraints and creativity: "the constraints that we impose on ourselves are those that will allow us to generate our creativity" (Ethan).

To summarize, the constraints (that are not necessarily considered as negative neither external here) that the degrowth paradigm(s) advocate(s) for allows to develop one's creativity as well as the competencies that are required to come up with the relevant alternatives to the current system. This emphasize the fact that the degrowth practices participate to wellbeing by answering the need for creation. However, this may happen in stages, as one might need to invest energy and time to learn specific skills to develop new creative ways of doing. Indeed, not all the participants are in the same phase of their degrowth career, as some are just starting to design change in their life and practices when others have been involved in doing so for years.

In addition, as mentioned before about leisure and free time, "living degrowth" certainly offers more time to create and to develop any kind of creativity and the relating competencies mentioned above.

The two last needs to be considered here are the needs for identity and freedom. They both seem to unveil the same challenge that is of being paradoxical, and were discussed very similarly by the interviewees. Indeed, the interviews indicated that both these needs seem to imply two aspects: one that is personal, individual and subjective, and another one that is social, external, objective and out of one's reach, which makes them all the more complex to apprehend.

Identity

Indeed, as pointed out by several interviewees when discussing the need for identity, this dimension includes two sub concepts that are worth mentioning for the purpose of the analysis: the personal identity (and the felt identity) that is individual and per se, and the social identity that is objective and is constructed in relation to others (Goffman, 1963).

The study reveals that with regard to the construction of the internal identity, "living degrowth" "is extremely rich" (Ethan) as it allows to realize this personal identity. Firstly, "living degrowth" may allow for reflection one oneself, as brought up by several participants. It enables to have more time, to eliminate distractions and therefore to have more opportunities to face oneself:

I think we have a lot more time to think about who we are, who we want to be, what we want to be, to ask ourselves these existential questions (Gaspard).

Then, linked to that question of reflection on the self, the opportunity that "living degrowth" offers to respect one's own values, integrity and ethic is an important point raised by all the interviewees: "living degrowth" is "a matter of personal ethics" (Charles). In that regard, a participant noted:

What changes my satisfaction is that when I behave in a way that reflects my values, I feel strong and whole, honest, sincere, etc. ...so it strengthens me (Mark, who has been "living degrowth" since he was a teenager).

To that extent, degrowth practices seem to allow for the satisfaction of the need for identity, concerning the personal identity at least.

Following that point about ethics and values, it is important to go back to the concept of community and especially to the ROC to discuss the satisfaction of the need for identity as conceptualized by Max-Neef (1991). The practice of being involved in a community such as the ROC genuinely allows to share one's values, perceptions and beliefs and to bring a positive sense of belonging. Above helping the realization of personal identity, it helps to conceive a common identity within a specific "community of practices" (Mège, 2017: 75).

When it come to the social identity that is built in relationship with others, it seems more difficult to satisfy the need for identity while "living degrowth". It seems especially challenging when lived collectively, as it may create marginalization and even labelling (Becker, 1963), as pointed out by a participant: "compared to the majority, we're actually considered as aliens" (Gaspard) which also mentioned that the ROC has a "socializing aspect but also a marginalizing aspect".

Freedom

Free of what? What is freedom? The freedom to consume what we want?! That's an illusion! (*Thomas*)

This quote from an interview appeared as very interesting as 'freedom of choice' is often put forward in consumerism to justify and support growth imperatives.

In his work discussing limits, Kallis states that freedom is linked to voluntary limitation (2019: 57), which represents incidentally one of the bases of the degrowth paradigm(s). As mentioned by a participant, "the exercise of freedom is precisely about the limits" and not the idea that we have "that freedom is having a 180-degree opening on a lot of things" (Thomas). In this sense, the literature as well as the interviews unveil the fact that "living degrowth", namely reducing consumption, avoiding surplus and distraction, live to the minimum, etc. might be a way of satisfying the need for freedom and therefore another step towards wellbeing.

The first point that can be made to link degrowth to the notion of freedom is about choices. All of the participants stressed the fact that they felt freer to make their own choices as "living [their] degrowth" means moving towards alternatives that are against the mainstream system of practices. In that direction, a participant, involved in the ROC, remarked that "if we live in a society of growth and advocate for degrowth, we will gain freedom by challenging it and creating alternatives" (Lynn). Making choices and creating alternatives that lead to more freedom also allows, as stated by the participants, for more autonomy and emancipation. Making the choice to tend to alternatives to consumption (henhouse, vegetable garden,

rainwater tank...⁴) seems to be "something that liberates a little bit from the system" (Valentin). This support the notion of "empowering practice" (Mège 2017: 72) and "values of autonomy and personal development" (2017: 79) raised by Mège in his work on the practices of degrowth activists in France.

As the points outlined above seem to reveal practices and routines that satisfy the need for freedom and therefore allow for a positive influence on wellbeing, it is important to note that the concept of freedom may appear paradoxical, as pointed out by many participants. It encompasses the idea of personal and internal freedom, which is fulfilled by the opportunity to choose alternatives, to be autonomous and empowered. However, it also encompasses the conception of external freedom, which the individual can barely influence. The interviews revealed that the material arrangements as well as the social norms in place don't really allow the participants to actually feel free in "living [their] degrowth". As mentioned by a participant, "the capitalist system is always on the move and it's going to be on the move until it falls... so then you have to be aware of your freedom and your non-freedom" (Thomas). This is why we may temper the assumption that "living degrowth" fully satisfies the need for freedom, saying that it offers a "relative freedom", as stated by one participant (Ethan), that seem to only concern the individual dimension of it. This was summarized pretty well by this participant:

I feel very free in my head, with my convictions, my ideas, but in reality, in my daily life, I am not because I realize that most of my actions are still dictated by mainstream lifestyles (Ethan).

Considering those two needs for identity and freedom, there is a last point that it seems interesting to address here. Discussing about degrowth, Latouche states that the most important thing of all may be to "recover the sense of the sacred, to restore the

⁴ Those are some of the alternatives to consumption discussed by the participants during the interviews.

legitimacy of the spiritual dimension of man - this spirituality can perfectly well be totally secular" (2019: 121). This relates to the discussions that were raised during the interviews about those two needs, as most of the participants underlined this spiritual dimension as one of the most satisfactory outcomes of "living degrowth".

DISCUSSION

VARIOUS DEGROWTH

There are many forms of degrowth, as imagined and practiced by individuals who claim to "live degrowth", and even if this leads to interesting debates and discussions, it can also create confusion and make it difficult to follow a specific approach. One important question that was central in analyzing the interviews can be phrased as: Is degrowth only about consuming less, or also about consuming better? For some interviewees who declared to "live degrowth", it implies reducing working time and consumption at its very minimum. For other people, while advocating for the same paradigm(s) and goals, degrowth obviously implies reducing consumption but equally and above else consuming better. This illustrates what Mège (2017) alludes to in his work on the radicality of degrowth practices, when he proposes that there are "two major trends in the militancy for degrowth: the revolutionary trend on the one hand, and the reformist trend on the other" (Mège, 2017: 83). In the same work, Mège states that "the (degrowth) community is made up of activists identified as being all practitioners—but more or less coherent and radical practitioners" (Mège, 2017: 77). Even if not all the individuals participating in this present work claimed to be activists, they characterized themselves as "practitioners", more or less radical in their way of "living degrowth" (Brossmann and Islar, 2020). This allowed for the understanding of a diversity of practices that represent very different ways of "living degrowth". In that direction, the analysis, even if based on a small sample, might allow for the development of ideal types (Weber, 1919) that could help the understanding of the various form that "living degrowth" can take in practice. When discussing degrowth, the interviews showed that two groups of principles that rule practices and could be seen as typologies can be distinguished. The first is degrowth as against something, against the system, materialism, consumption, and broadly any kind of development. This ideal type seems to lead to practices that support a radical shift in the system, an ambition to review all the system and the institutions it's composed of. It is mostly about avoiding at most any form of consumption and supporting non practices in everyday life. The other type that can be unveiled from the analysis is degrowth as for something, for a more flourishing life, more social relations, more nature. This idea type seems to lead to practices that support a process about changing the self, be more open, discover new things, create stronger relationships with nature, people and things. It is mostly about changing one's practices to consume better and more thoughtfully. This typology offers the possibility of analyzing the various forms of "living degrowth" to see the extent to which people's patterns of practices resemble them. Those are borderline cases that are never met in their purity, but in light of which one can compare the phenomena observed in reality.

As seen in the analysis, a lot of the practices advocated by the degrowth paradigm(s) and lived by the interviewees tend to help the satisfaction of the fundamental needs promoted by Max-Neel's Theory of Human Scale Development (1991). In this regard, those practices can be considered as main needs satisfiers in many respects and be analyzed as such.

THE POWER OF SATISFIERS

SYNERGIC SATISFIERS

The analysis of each need specifically showed that those degrowth practices sometimes "manage simultaneously to satisfy several different kinds of needs" (Jackson and Marks, 1999: 429), which is the exact definition that Max-Neef gives of synergic satisfiers (1991: 34). This concept, combined with the interviews, allows to

unveil the power of specific satisfiers related to "living degrowth" towards achieving wellbeing.

Guillen-Royo also mentions this concept by using the term of utopian satisfiers (2010: 389) and gives the examples of time sovereignty and community centered society among others as approaches to reach the wellbeing dividend. Those two utopian satisfiers, that represent some of the main element encouraged by the degrowth paradigm(s) will be discussed below as well as others explored in the interviews. In this way, the purpose of this section is to give an idea of what can be, really practically, the positive impact of practicing degrowth on an individual's wellbeing.

The practice of reducing one's working time may be one of the most important points to raise when talking about synergic satisfiers as defined by Max-Neef. Commonly shared by all the participants to this present study and more broadly most of the people that advocate for degrowth, this practice seems to be one way to satisfy various needs at the same time. This reduction of working time is linked to a shift in the relationship to time, as working less offers the possibility to free some time outside of the economic activity. This free time enables to "implement strategies that objectively allow to consume less" (Mège, 2017: 70), therefore creating a virtuous circle that reduce the need for money to meet the "material needs" (Jackson and Marks, 1999), but not only. It also allows for the satisfaction of most of the "non-material needs" (Jackson and Marks, 1999), directly or indirectly. As Brossmann and Islar mention it citing a participant in their study (2020), degrowth encourages to "take time to do things" and "live more slowly", which can pretty much relate to the whole exhaustive list of non-material needs considered in the analysis section. As stated by a participant in the present study (Sam), "free time means finding small pleasures" which relates to the need for leisure, "creating conviviality" which relates to the need for affection, as well as "participating in the development of society", which relates to the need for participation. Altogether, releasing free time seems to allow for the accomplishment of practices that satisfy all of the nonmaterial needs, including identity and freedom. However, this work-time

reduction—and releasing more free time—is hard to attain for some, as it goes against social norms. The social difficulty in reducing working time, especially for men, is emphasized by a (male) interviewee: "it's very rarely accepted for a man to work part-time (...) what I'm going to be encouraged to do is to work 100%" (Gaspard).

The practice of being part of a community is another important point in this study. As stressed by Brand-Correa and Steinberger, "some of the most important decoupling opportunities are likely to be found at the community level" (2016:49). Being part of the ROC was stated by the participants embedded in such a movement as a possibility to fulfill needs: creating relationships, understanding and participating through debates, discussions and actions, as well as "acquiring a sense of belonging" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 40) which helps with the realization of one's personal identity. The ROC, and probably more broadly any "community of practices" (Mège, 2017:75) that is "promoting the creation of spaces for discussion and socialization" can indeed be referred as "having many synergic effects" len Royo, 2010: 389). Vita's argument also goes into that direction as he states that "grassroots initiatives such as the degrowth and voluntary simplicity movements not only provide sustainable goods but also create contexts for social learning, cooperation networks and alternative narratives of need satisfaction" (Vita, 2019: 13). As one of the participants stated:

It helps me psychologically, it's good not to feel lonely anyway. There's an aspect where it allows you to exchange, you feel you're not alone with it and you can exchange with other people (...) (Michelle)

In that direction, as we consider that living in a cooperative housing means being part of a community (as highlighted by the participants concerned), this practice raised in the interviews represents another profitable synergic satisfier interesting to focus on. However, as seen before, the practice of being part of such communities can also entail to some extent the need for affection and for identity, as people involved claim to sometimes suffer from labelling and marginalization.

Other practices considered as meaningful when "living degrowth" can also be considered as synergic satisfiers, as they "satisfy a given need, simultaneously stimulat[ing] and contribut[ing] to the fulfillment of other needs" (Max-Neef, 1991: 34). Local consumption, as stated by all the interviewees, participate to the satisfaction of the need for subsistence, but also allows for the creation of relationships:

I think about the grocery store we go to next door, I don't necessarily know these people very well but they know my life, I know their life, we're small talking, and I think it just feels good to say I'm not just here to buy something (Ethan).

Most of the participants mentioned the relationship to nature as important, and the practices that relate to it are also essential synergic satisfiers. Considered by Max-Neef as a form of having that fulfills the need for affection, it came out that the relationship with nature can become a mean to satisfy the need for leisure and to some extent for creation. In that direction, a participant mentioned:

"What has changed in the last few years is my relationship with nature, before I didn't necessarily go to the forest, but now I go there to read for example" (*Thomas*).

As presented by Rosa (2018), it is the fact of considering nature as a mere resource, and in fact denying its character as a sphere of resonance that is at the core of the ecological crisis that modern society is experiencing, and that is maybe the most crucial point brought up by the participants when asked about wellbeing and their relationship to nature.

The last element that can be pointed out when looking at synergic satisfiers as intended by Max-Neef (1991) is the practice of learning and experimenting that comes along with "living degrowth". As mentioned in the interviews, the competencies allow to fulfill the need for leisure and creation, regarding cooking but also producing vegetables or imagining alternatives to

consumption for example. It also allows for the fulfillment of the needs for protection and freedom as well as identity as it offers a possibility of emancipation from the system and a sense of self-confidence and serenity.

INHIBITING SATISFIERS

While focusing on those synergic satisfiers seems to be a favorable approach towards the accomplishment of the wellbeing dividend through "living degrowth", it is essential to mention that the impact of the variety of practices it entails can also be ambiguous in some instances. Indeed, the interviews unveiled that some practices can represent satisfiers that fulfill "one need to which they are directed but tend to inhibit the satisfaction of other needs" (Jackson and Marks, 1999:428). This represent another type of satisfiers identified by Max-Neef (1991) as inhibiting. This concept can be of great help to unveil scenarios where a satisfier, while satisfying a need, hinder the satisfaction of another and thus creates a paradoxical situation that needs to be addressed and tackled by the individual.

While being considered as a synergic satisfier in many respects, the interviews showed that the practice of reducing working time can also be recognized as an inhibiting satisfier. As stated by Guillen-Royo, the "flexibility to set one's working schedules reduces time stress and time spent commuting and also liberates time" (2010:391) for other activities, thus supporting the needs for freedom but also creation, leisure and participation. While supporting those needs, the practice of reducing working time can have a detrimental impact on the need for protection, as it suggests less money less regularly and therefore less security, particularly in the long term (retirement).

On another note, the practice of travelling by plane represents for some the only way to visit some family or friends that live abroad, and thus flights are necessary to satisfy the need for affection that relies mainly upon positive relationships with close relatives. The interviews unveiled that this specific consumption practice seems to have a harmful impact on the need for identity, as it forces people to go against some of their values and beliefs that are based on ecological concerns.

In the same vein, some practices related to ethical concerns around food for example (as having a vegetarian or vegan diet, trying to avoid some specific aliment) occur to have a negative impact on the very basic need for subsistence. This was mentioned by a participant who suffers from very common health problems that compel her to reconsider her diet and occasionally transgress some of her principles, which is felt like wrong as people "living degrowth" always try to "find ways to do things that [are] in line with their beliefs" (Mège, 2017:67). Thus, to satisfy her need for subsistence, she has to sacrifice some of her values and ethics and hinder the satisfaction of her need for identity.

While mentioning the paradoxical "attributes" (Max-Neef, 1991) of those satisfiers, the participants described the different strategies they implemented to address these situations and to cope with the inhibiting character of those practices. Some of them simply tried to find a balance that they valued as acceptable, by trying to work just enough to feel safe, or going to see the family once a year by plane for example: "it's always a matter of balance, so we do the best we can to live with it" (Barbara). Others, on the contrary, declared their solution to cope with it was to take responsibility for their choices and don't regret it no matter what.

CULTURAL SHIFT

Those concepts of synergic and inhibiting satisfiers could help to design a path towards a possible double dividend, namely the possibility to live better and flourish within ecological limits. We identify that "living degrowth" seems to contribute to the satisfaction of most of the fundamental needs that represent objective wellbeing, particularly when identified as synergic satisfiers. This, among other things, seems to indicate that a cultural change can be

imagined towards reaching the so-called wellbeing dividend. A cultural change is defined by Max-Neef as "the consequence of dropping traditional satisfiers for the purpose of adopting new or different ones" (Max-Neef, 1992: 200). This is exactly what is indirectly stressed by the degrowth paradigm(s), which advocates for new "forms of being, having, doing and interacting to satisfy the needs" (Jackson and Marks 1999: 428). As we identify degrowth practices as essential satisfiers, it is interesting to mention the conceptual closeness that exist when it comes to cultural change and change in practices. Indeed, Guillen-Royo and Wilhite (2015) states that disrupting dominant practices involves the "healthy destabilization of habits' (Berressem, 2009: 64) and thus provides an opportunity for the formation of new habits" (p.312). The concern is then to put everything in place that could support the change towards the strengthening of existing synergic satisfiers, the possibility of converting others to become synergic, the creation of new ones that would be considered as synergic, as well as the finding of solutions to reduce the negative impact of inhibiting satisfiers. This process could rely on the attempt of Guillen-Royo (2010) to transform negative satisfiers into utopian satisfiers. Addressing other types of satisfiers, such as violators, would have been interesting for the purpose of this work, but no key negative satisfiers have been raised during the interviews, except from the relationships to others that may be problematic in some instances for people who "live degrowth". In addition, synergic and inhibiting satisfiers seem to link the different needs and were the most evident in the interviews. For those reasons, and because they represent an interesting focus towards a decisive cultural shift, we focused on synergic and inhibiting satisfiers as a basis for this reflection.

Just as the inhibiting satisfiers are considered by Max-Neef as exogenous, namely "usually imposed, induced, ritualized or institutionalized and traditionally generated at the top and advocated for all" and the mentioned synergic satisfiers are recognized as endogenous and "derive from liberating processes which are the outcome of acts of volition generated by the community at the grassroots level" (Max-Neef, 1991: 34), the practices that are

considered for the purpose of this work as satisfiers are claimed to be supported or hindered by a mix of different elements that range from individual to societal. Following that, those elements will either be supporters or obstacles in allowing a cultural shift and satisfying needs, by promoting synergic satisfiers and reducing the negative impact of inhibiting satisfiers. As seen before, the teleoaffective structures seems to be the elements that helps the most in the achievement of consumption reduction practices in the degrowth movement while material arrangements and social norms seem to play the bad guys regarding these practices. This is what has been mostly raised in the interviews, but it is not always the case, as for example cooperative housing are available as material arrangements that help the practice of living in a cooperative.

If we consider the reduction of working time, proved to be a synergic satisfier, it seems like social norms are the most prevalent element that has to shift to strengthen this practice, along with material arrangements to some extent. Regarding the practice of belonging to a community, it seems like the shift has to happen mainly at the sociocultural level to see a positive change. If we consider as a last instance the practice of learning and experimenting, it seems that the most important shift will be needed at the teleoaffective level and the material dimension to some extent.

Even if change is embedded in a dynamic three-way relation between people, things and norms, it has been showed that "a change in any of these three pillars can shift a habit and indeed influence our overall dispositions" (Sahakian and Wilhite, 2014: 28) and that is where the societal level needs to be engaged to support degrowth practices (or more broadly 'patterns' of responsible practices) in meeting the needs that lead to wellbeing. Focusing on elements of practices that seem to promote degrowth practices while allowing for the satisfaction of needs allows to change our imaginaries and to go beyond what is considered normal and possible and can therefore represent an interesting path to follow towards the promotion of a wellbeing that seem to be more respectful toward the planet in term of consumption.

However, the implications for sustainable wellbeing remain to be discussed—in the section that follows.

SUSTAINABLE WELLBEING?

When thinking about sustainable wellbeing, it is always necessary to be aware it implies "the idea of a safe and just space for humanity, living within planetary boundaries and providing a decent, safe and just floor of wellbeing for all people" (Gough, 2017: 86). This implies being aware of the impact of the practices that lead to the need satisfaction on the environment, while considering what is valued as the "just floor of wellbeing". Interesting studies calculated the carbon footprint of the different needs brought up by Max-Neef, and found that "half of global carbon emissions are driven by subsistence and protection, a similar amount are due to freedom, identity, creation and leisure together, whereas understanding and participation jointly account for less than 4% of global emissions" (Vita, 2019: 1). A similar investigation could then be conducted regarding satisfiers and practices specific to consumption reduction and degrowth, as "satisfiers can be sustainable or unsustainable" (Vita, 2019: 3) depending on various factors, be they material or non-material. Without knowing the carbon footprint of consumption reduction and of "living degrowth", it is hard to measure the impact on the environment and to declare that degrowth allows for the achievement of sustainable wellbeing.

This work cannot pretend to precisely assess whether or not degrowth practices lead to sustainable wellbeing, but some cross analysis between the empirical findings and the literature can highlight some positive elements regarding this notion. In fact, some practices and life situations can participate to the fulfillment of needs (several at the same time) while reducing impact on the environment. Reducing working time is a good example of a degrowth practice that led to what is considered as sustainable wellbeing: trading pay increments for more disposable time limits the rise in consumption and thus emissions that would otherwise

take place; it would weaken the 'work and spend' cycle, which locks employees into a trajectory of fixed hours and rising consumption. Secondly, working shorter hours is likely to change the time and expenditure budget of households in a lower-carbon direction (more time-intensive and less carbon-intensive ways of travelling, shopping, preparing food, repairing goods...) (Gough, 2017: 187-188). This practice of reducing working time and therefore salary can be considered as one of the main focuses of the degrowth paradigm and movement and was mentioned a lot during the interviewees and the discussion around the matrix of wellbeing. As Gough (2017) puts it, "reduced working time (...) can improve sustainability as well as (...) dimensions of non-monetary wellbeing and human flourishing" (p.198). However, t is important to consider the long-term implications of such a shift, which haven't been discussed a lot by the participants in this work. On the same pattern, being part of a community designed around sustainability principles, which is another important practice promoted by the degrowth paradigm(s) and considered in this work as a synergic satisfier, is worth mentioning regarding sustainable wellbeing. As Guillen-Royo (2010) puts it, a group of support represents "the ideal space for design and implementation of changes toward wellbeing dividend" (p.385), which implies "highlighting the factors (...) that constitute scenarios where people experience high levels of personal wellbeing within the ecological limits of the earth" (Guillen-Royo and Wilhite 2015: 31).

Just as reducing working time and being part of a sustainable community, other practices considered above as synergic satisfiers could represent relevant evidence that consumption reduction and degrowth especially might stand as an appropriate approach to reach a wellbeing that would be sustainable, but this question requires research that goes beyond the intention of this work.

CONCLUSION

This study aimed at understanding in what ways can consumption reduction practices impact sustainable wellbeing?

The concern was to uncover forms of consumptions advocated by a Degrowth initiative, as it plays out in Western Switzerland, and link these practices and patterns to the notion of wellbeing. The first subquestions, What practices of consumption reduction are significant for Degrowth?, was designed to help unveiling the specific practices of consumption reduction that are promoted by people "living degrowth". The second subquestion, what are the elements that support or hinder those specific practices?, aimed at discussing the elements composing these practices which seem to either support or hinder their development. Then, the third subquestion, what is the impact of those practices on sustainable wellbeing?, focused the attention on the impact of those specific practices on the different dimensions considered as contributing to wellbeing. Finally, the last subquestion, what insights can be unveiled to promote consumption reduction while supporting the goal of sustainable wellbeing?, was aimed at unveiling the key elements that could be focused on to promote more or less radical consumption reduction practices while advocating for wellbeing as a normative goal for the assessment of sustainable climate mitigation.

This research began with the assumption that we could possibly "live better by consuming less and reduce our impact on the environment in the process" (Jackson, 2005: 19). This represents the concept of wellbeing dividend, also mentioned by Guillen-Royo and Wilhite (2015) as the "scenarios where people experience high levels of personal wellbeing within the ecological limits of the earth" (p.313). Based on this assumption, and focusing on

the degrowth movement and its surrounding network in the Geneva and Vaud area, the purpose of this work was to study what "living degrowth" means in terms of practices in the Swiss context, and towards the normative goal of objective wellbeing. The original hypothesis, that relies on the dominant notion that restrictions to consumption would lead to decreased wellbeing, stressed that degrowth practices would have a limited positive impact on the different needs that constitute wellbeing. The analysis, based on the concept of eudaimonic wellbeing as well as the social practice theory, unveiled the many different ways of "living degrowth", which in turn promote less-intensive practices and actually satisfy most of the fundamental needs crucial to reach (sustainable) wellbeing.

This approach through objective wellbeing, especially the one developed by Max-Neef (1991), allows, "in contrast to the conventional characterization of economic welfare", to adopt a "conception of wellbeing in which human development is characterized in terms of fundamental needs" (Jackson and Marks, 1999:422), and therefore universal and comparable. This focus "on human flourishing rather than individual preferences" offers the possibility to "consider alternatives patterns of resource use, which can be compatible with upper limits to consumption" (O'Neill, 2008b, 2011). The satisfiers, namely the means to satisfy those mentioned fundamental needs, are context dependent and culturally specific, which allows for a "systemic analysis of sustainable alternatives" (Brand-Correa and Steinberger, 2016: 50). In addition, the utilization of the social practice theory framework allowed for a better understanding of practices associated with "living degrowth" in relation to wellbeing, as it is stressed that "it is through understanding the social practice of everyday life that 'need satisfaction' can be achieved" (Sahakian, Anantharaman, Di Giulio et al., 2020). Through this approach, the practices that are stressed by the participants and more broadly the degrowth supporters are analyzed with respect to their embeddedness in relation to three pillars—the body, the material world and the social world—that go beyond the individual dimension of practices. Furthermore, this allows to unveil the levers that are crucial for influencing a cultural shift based on a change in practices that would lead to the wellbeing dividend: scenarios of everyday consumption that are less intensive while satisfying all of the needs that are considered indispensable to reach wellbeing. The concept of objective wellbeing as well as "a theorization of habits enable to break with the neoclassical assumptions and policies and takes us beyond the imagines insatiable individual maximizer to encompass a socio-material contextualization of consumption and wellbeing" (Royo and Wilhite, 2015: 309). Altogether, an objective wellbeing approach linked to a social practice theory seems to represent a solid basis for a robust theory of change, which is advocated by the degrowth movement.

LIVING DEGROWTH

The analysis allowed to unveil some main concepts that are consistent with the social practice approach (as a mean) to reach the normative goal of (sustainable) wellbeing (as an end). The idea of "living degrowth" was underlined as a combination of practices that compose the consumption patterns of someone who lives in accordance with the degrowth principles. The ways of "living degrowth" are diverse and dynamic, as they evolve depending on the context and period of life. Following that idea, and as stated earlier, we could distinguish two ideal types of degrowth, as against something, mainly the system, or as for something, mainly the pursuit of a simpler and flourishing life.

Even if representing different combinations of practices related to "living degrowth", those ideal types are all theoretically argued to be based on limits, which was confirmed by the participants to this study. The interviews showed that limits to consumption are reflected by the individual as corridors that they place for themselves in order to live a fulfilled and flourishing life. This resonate with Kallis' argument that, if internal, limits are beneficial as they allow to free oneself from distraction and to support more prosperous patterns of life. This is interesting as it allows to expose that if internalized at the individual level (as well as promoted

at higher levels), limits are not hindering freedom in any way and are helping to satisfy all the other needs. This can only be possible if limits, while promoted at meso and macro levels, come from the bottom level (community level for example) and are not imposed to individual through top-down processes.

Those limits, as stated earlier, are the underpinnings of the concept of sufficiency. If internalized, they can allow for the construction of consumption patterns based on sufficiency and thus remaining within the consumption corridors, between a decent satisfaction of social foundations and the respect of planetary boundaries. The concern is to seek, in every consumption practice, to stay within a just space that allow oneself to consume sufficiently to meet her or his fundamental needs while respecting others and the planet. These concepts of sufficiency and limits, as well as "asconcepts of enough, thrift and (Barry, 2012: 161), advocated by the degrowth paradigm(s), allow for oneself to satisfy her or his needs while having a limited impact on the sustainability of the planet and would be the key principle of a more sustainable and resilient economy (Barry, 2012: 140, 162).

SATISFYING DEGROWTH

Accepting and living by sufficiency rather than excess offers a return to what is, culturally speaking, the human home: to the ancient order of family, community, good work; to a reverence for skill, creativity and creation; to a daily cadence slow enough to let us watch the sunset and stroll by the water's edge; to communities worth spending a lifetime in; and to local places pregnant with the memories of generations (Durning, 1992).

Just as it has been stressed by Durning, the research revealed that the reduction of consumption, especially the practices of "living degrowth" allow to "live better (or at least as well as we have done) by consuming less, and become more human in the process" (Jackson, 2005: 33). The analysis of the discussion with members

of the Degrowth movement of Geneva and its surrounding network unveiled that the reduction of food consumption, energy consumption, mobility consumption, but also all the habits that go along with "living degrowth" have a positive impact on objective wellbeing. Even if, as stressed in the discussion, we can't openly consider this wellbeing as sustainable, several studies (Guillen-Royo, 2010; Gough, 2017, among others) show that this consumption reduction and this shift in practices also reduce the human impact on the environment and help to keep consumption patterns within the planetary boundaries.

The earlier analysis showed that the reduction of consumption and the practices advocated by the degrowth paradigm(s) does offers two crucial elements towards the wellbeing dividend. The first one is the possibility of using less polluting material needs to satisfy the material need. This was showed by the analysis on the needs for subsistence and protection, declared as fully met by all the participants, and is illustrated by the examples of local food consumption or living in an energy efficient housing. The second point is the possibility of developing non-material means to satisfy non-material needs (Jackson and Marks, 1999), which also seems to mean satisfying needs at a lower environmental cost. This can be illustrated by the fact of enjoying nature to meet the need for leisure, reading books to fill the need for understanding, being part of communities to satisfy the needs for affection, identity and participation or working less as a mean to meet the need for freedom and creation for example. An analysis of the exhaustive list of satisfiers associated with "living degrowth" that help the satisfaction of the various fundamental needs helped to unveil a third point that is crucial towards reaching the wellbeing dividend. While enhancing the fact that those satisfiers are really positive regarding the satisfaction of the needs raised by Max-Neef (1991), the analvsis showed that some of them can be considered as synergic satisfiers, meeting several needs at the same time. The practice of reducing one's working time, of being part of a community - be it an activist movement, a cooperative for food or housing or any other "community of practice" (Mège, 2017: 75) that promotes sustainability- as well as the practice of experimenting new

alternatives or consuming more local food are here considered as synergic satisfiers and therefore interesting to focus on. This concept helps to prove that the fact of "living degrowth" is not violating the satisfaction of the fundamental needs, and can on the contrary offer some confirmation that a shift towards it could benefit to the majority if widely expanded.

This shows that practices encouraged by degrowth, that are based on sufficiency and are part of sustainable consumption patterns, represent compelling satisfiers that have a crucial role in meeting the fundamental needs that constitute wellbeing. This is interesting as it shows, just as in a recent paper from Sahakian, Anantharaman and Di Giulio (2020) on green public spaces, that practices represent a crucial resource to understand how needs are satisfied, and in turn to recognize how to satisfy needs, in different contexts for different people.

FROM INDIVIDUAL ACTIONS TO INSTITUTIONALIZATION

As stressed earlier in this work, the practices in place are relatively difficult to change. A cultural shift towards more responsible life patterns and even practices that are associated with "living degrowth" will need a crucial shift in the pillars that compose those specific practices: the material dimension, people's competencies and dispositions and the sociocultural dimensions need to be challenged. The reflection in this work is raised from the bottom, which seems to represent one way forward as Jackson states that "rebuilding prosperity from the bottom up is what's required" (Jackson, 2017: 216) as approaches imposed by top-down processes can appear heteronomous and "imposed by the higher-level authority" (Kallis, 2019: 107). In that direction, the reflection based on individual as well as collective practices within the community seems to unveil good insights about shifting consumption patterns while leading towards the satisfaction of the normative goal of objective wellbeing. This can be made by enhancing the utilization of less polluting material goods as well as the

development of non-material goods to satisfy the needs. In other words, promoting "satisfiers with low material intensity that foster both wellbeing and sustainability" (Royo and Wilhite 2015: 312). As proved by the social practice theory, the self-limitation it implies "requires institutions at higher levels to secure the endurance of agreed limits" (Kallis, 2019: 106).

Indeed, as it was underlined during the interviews and stated above in the discussion, people who want to "live degrowth" are sometimes restricted by the material arrangements in place, the competencies and knowledge and the shared meanings that can be crucial hindrances to the possibility of "living degrowth". This study exposes the relevance of building from the bottom up to set limits that will then be supported by higher levels in order to support practices that assure the satisfaction of people's needs while not exceeding the planetary boundaries. The human needs, to be protected by society (Di Giulio and Fusch, 2019) within the consumption corridors, obviously need individual actions but more importantly overall meso (communities, political parties, organizations) and macro (government, public policies) levels implementations and achievements that will support limits and promote sufficiency at a broader level. In this way, individual practices based on sufficiency and sustainable patterns of consumption could be enhanced collectively through the elements that compose practices.

This could be supported through the development of competencies that promote sustainable consumption patterns, considered as a synergetic satisfier, at school for example, or in the everyday life spaces frequented by people on a daily basis. Learning could also be a good way to challenge social norms at the meso and macro level, through awareness-raising campaign for example. Based on insights from the individual (and from the community as well), material arrangements can also be discussed and shifted to support sustainable practices. This could be conducted through the provision of Universal Public Services (Coote and Percy, 2020), to make public services free such as public transports for example, as it is stressed by Coote and Percy (2020) who argue for

a universal right of access according to need for services that supports sustainability.

In the Swiss context, and as discussed during the interviews, the interest would be to focus on specific insights that allow for people to "live degrowth" within the consumption corridors. The provision of learning spaces (i.e., school) to support the development of competencies and knowledge over various domains of consumption could be an interesting adjustment as the possibility of learning and experimenting has been raised by all the interviewees. Social norms about reducing working time could also be discussed, as well as the opportunity and meanings around the practice of being part of a "community of practices" (Mège, 2017: 75) that promote sustainability for example. The shifting of specific material arrangements could be interesting to enhance practices of local consumption through the provision of more bulk stores or the development of local markets for example. These examples expose what it might mean for a society to organize itself to allow all of its citizens (regardless of cultural capital and social class) to "live degrowth", and what it means to rely upon bottom-up processes to draw on individual practices to design collective implementations at the meso and macro levels that would allow individuals to be in a default position of sobriety, and therefore expand sustainable practices while enhancing needs satisfaction.

This study, as it doesn't aim at uncovering all the practices of "living degrowth" in the chosen area neither to expose the specific shifts that need to be enforced, represents an exploratory study that has three main outcomes. First, it shows in practice that degrowth doesn't have, as it may be assumed, a harmful impact on people's life and on the contrary can have very positive consequences on (objective) wellbeing that need to be enhanced. Second, it offers a quite interesting basis for communicating to the majority about the benefits of turning to more responsible practices and even to "live degrowth" in terms of environmental effect but also wellbeing and for engaging people who are not convinced yet by the need for and the benefits of shifting consumption. Finally, it may, to a certain extent, serve as a support for the top-

down initiatives that are constantly and incrementally implemented in Switzerland towards the national and international goals about emissions and climate change, which would with no doubt benefit from relying on bottom-up approaches.

LIMITATIONS

Some limitations to this work can be underlined regarding the approach used for the purpose of the research as well as the concepts and notion discussed in relation to the data.

Max-Neef's objective approach used to consider wellbeing has proved to be useful and appropriate for the purpose of studying environmental concerns and degrowth paradigm(s). Nevertheless, it seems like it represents a rather fixed model of wellbeing, "however open to revision" (Pelenc, 2014: 5) that may deserve to be completed by other approaches that may be complementary, such as the Capabilities approach (Sen, 1999; Nussbaum, 2003) for example. Indeed, some dimensions that may emerge as crucial to wellbeing are claimed as absent from the nine fundamental needs matrix: "there is one dimension of wellbeing that is not captured by the Max-Neel's list which is the spirituality/transcendence dimension" (Pelenc, 2014: 21). But fortunately, this dimension which is relatively important when considering degrowth (and was underlined during most of the interviews conducted for this study); was to some extent at discussed with the participant when reflecting on the nine needs. In addition to that, this objective approach to wellbeing used to design and conduct the interviews and analyze the data can never be considered as completely objective as "we did not and will never know with certainty how to define objective needs" (Di Giulio and Fuchs 2014: 189). However, the arguments supporting the actual approaches to objective wellbeing as contrasting with the subjective perspectives seem to be promising enough to accept the gap of information that exists around those. It also appears relatively rational to use it as a basis for discussing the wellbeing dividend ambition, "given the urgency of the sustainability related challenges humanity is facing" (Di Giulio and Fuchs 2014: 189). A last point about the wellbeing approach is worth mentioning if we are to advocate for possible improvements to the present research. Indeed, objective wellbeing is only objective, and as stated by Gough (2017), "a convincing consensus is emerging that combinations of approaches—objective, subjective and relational—provide a more rounded picture of human wellbeing" (p.62).

Regarding the treatment of the data and the notions analyzed, a gap can be pointed out that could have been addressed through a more activist approach to degrowth. The consumer-citizen (McGregor, 2002) dual role of the participants hasn't been discussed as such in this work, which would have been interesting considering the fact that the participants were all more or less embedded in the degrowth movement that is usually mostly studied as activist (see Mège, 2017 for example). It may have been interesting to discuss further how people engage with degrowth as activists in relation to their consumption patterns and to the satisfaction of needs. This could have been addressed by focusing on the needs for participation and identity for example, as being an activist and the practices that relate to it can represent crucial satisfiers to meet those needs.

These limitations can represent valuable foundations for further research that could take into consideration a broader approach to wellbeing as well as a more political approach to degrowth.

FURTHER RESEARCH

When discussing further research in relation to this exploratory study, there is another point that is worth mentioning. As stated earlier in the methodology section, the research was conducted during the unexpected sanitary crisis of Covid-19 which made the field work experience unusual and complex. Beyond the empirical adjustments that had to be developed (see Methodology: 28), the situation raised an interesting point for debate around degrowth

and wellbeing. Gough, when describing the critical situation of modern capitalism, asked in 2017: "Is it not possible that we are entering a phase of post-growth by accident rather than design?" (Gough, 2017: 192). This question made a lot of sense at the time of the interviews (April 2020), for the participants but also for the society as a whole. The term of "décroissance subie" (imposed degrowth) came out in the press and the wide public to define the crucial situation imposed by the lockdown that was enforced in numerous countries around the world. While Switzerland was only imposed a partial lockdown, the discussion around this possible situation of imposed degrowth was considered during the interviews. Some of the participants agreed to contemplate this situation as imposed degrowth, as it shifted consumption patterns towards more sobriety and simplicity. Others, on the contrary, refused to label this situation as any close to degrowth as it implies, among other things, some kind of denial of freedom and a social distancing that are far from the degrowth paradigm(s). No matter how we call it, the lockdown situation did in practice shift the patterns of consumption towards less rather than more (even if the practice of shopping online remained significant during this period), and encouraged a return to simpler practices, which seem to have had a positive impact on the environment as well as the wellbeing of many for various reasons. Several questions arise from this reflection that are not necessarily linked but that would be worth focusing on within the debate on the relation between degrowth and wellbeing. First, we may want to question the sustainability of the more responsible practices developed during the lockdown. As stressed by an interviewee, we could imagine that "once the lockdown is over, people are going to go back to the way they used to live (...)" (Charles) and we may hypothesize that "it's [not] going to bring about a fundamental change in society, in people, in their lifestyles, in the way they see things" (Gaspard). Then, it would be crucial to further understand if and in what ways the lock-down impacted people's objective wellbeing, and what helped them assure that positive impact. Finally, this situation could be a good start to reflect on the need to change before it may be too late, as stressed by Latouche in 2019: "It is then necessary to oppose this undergone and undesirable degrowth with a desired degrowth which would be desirable and serene, if not happy" (Latouche, 2019: 12). While several perspectives have been imagined as possible continuation for this work, the lockdown and unprecedented sanitary situation and the teachings that can be learnt from it represent relevant approaches to the discussions around degrowth and wellbeing and would be interesting to address. Since this study has been conducted, a new research has been led on the impact of the lockdown on (sustainable) practices in relation of wellbeing (Moynat et al., 2022).

More broadly, this research allowed to show that an approach through practices is all the more relevant for a reflection around needs satisfaction and towards (sustainable) wellbeing. It also exposed that the possibilities of understanding the nexus between the specific categories of consumption (food, mobility and housing) and wellbeing through such a perspective are abundant in the Swiss context and may deserve deeper consideration. It would then be interesting to go further into understanding the myriad of practices that it implies and how they link to needs satisfaction. In addition, as stated earlier in this work, Max-Neef's approach promotes participatory methods to unveil the link between satisfiers and need satisfaction, which wasn't possible for this work due to the time and space constraints, but would represent a relevant perspective for addressing such concerns. Altogether, this research exposes that more attention is needed on the nexus of the specific categories of consumption and the practices related with the satisfaction of needs towards the normative goal of (sustainable) wellbeing, that could be addressed through participatory methods and discussed through a practice theory approach.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Ajzen, Icek (2015). "Consumer attitudes and behavior: The theory of planned behavior applied to food consumption decisions." *Rivista di Economia Agraria* 70: 121-38.

Barry, John. s. d. (2012). "The Politics of Actually Existing Unsustainability: Human Flourishing in a Climate-Changed, Carbon Constrained World." Oxford University Press.

Becker, Howard S (1963). Outsiders. Free Press of Glencoe.

Brand-Correa, Lina I., and Julia K. Steinberger (2017). "A Framework for Decoupling Human Need Satisfaction From Energy Use." *Ecological Economics* 141: 43-52.

Brossmann, Johannes, et Mine Islar (2020). "Living Degrowth? Investigating Degrowth Practices through Performative Methods." *Sustainability Science* 15(3): 917-30.

Costanza, Robert, Brendan Fisher, Saleem Ali, Caroline Beer, Lynne Bond, Roelof Boumans, Nicholas L. Danigelis, Jennifer Dickinson, Carolyn Elliott, Joshua Farley, Diane Elliott Gayer, Linda MacDonald Glenn, Thomas Hudspeth, Dennis Mahoney, Laurence McCahill, Barbara McIntosh, Brian Reed, S. Abu Turab Rizvi, Donna M. Rizzo, Thomas Simpatico, et Robert Snapp (2007). "Quality of Life: An Approach Integrating Opportunities, Human Needs, and Subjective Well-Being." *Ecological Economics* 61(2-3): 267-76.

Di Giulio, Antonietta, and Rico Defila (2019). "The 'Good Life' and Protected Needs.

Di Giulio, Antonietta, and Doris Fuchs (2014). "Sustainable Consumption Corridors: Concept, Objections, and Responses." *Gaia* 23 (1): 184-92.

Doyal, Len, et Ian Gough (1991). "A Theory of Human Need." Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan.

Durning, Alan (1992). "How Much Is Enough?: The Consumer Society and the Future of the Earth." 1st Thus. edition. New York: W. W. Norton & Company.

Elliot, Mark, Ian Fairweather, Wendy Olsen, et Maria Pampaka (2016). "A Dictionary of Social Research Methods:" Oxford University Press.

Fromm, Erich (2013). "To Have or To Be?" A&C Black.

Gasper, Des (2004). "Human Well-Being: Concepts and Conceptualizations."

Georgescu-Roegen, Nicholas, Jacques Grinevald, et Ivo Rens (2006). "La décroissance: entropie, écologie, économie."

Goffman, Erving (1963). "Stigma: notes on the management of spoiled identity." Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall.

Gough, Ian (2017). "Heat, Greed and Human Need: Climate Change, Capitalism and Sustainable Wellbeing. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing Ltd.

Gough, Ian. 2019. « Necessities and Luxuries: How to Combine Redistribution with Sustainable Consumption ». P. 138-58 in What Next for Sustainable Development? Edward Elgar Publishing.

Guillen-Royo, Mònica (2018). Sustainability and Wellbeing: Human-Scale Development in Practice. Routledge.

Guillen-Royo, Monica, et Harold Langford Wilhite. 2015. « Wellbeing and Sustainable Consumption ». P. 301-16 in Global Handbook of Quality of Life: Exploration of Well-Being of Nations and Continents, International Handbooks of Quality-of-Life, édité par W. Glatzer, L. Camfield, V. Møller, et M. Rojas. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands.

Guna Saigaran, Nithiya, Premalatha Karupiah, et Parthiban S.Gopal (2015). The Capability Approach: Comparing Amartya Sen and Martha Nussbaum.

Hopkins, Rob (2014). The Transition Handbook: From Oil Dependency to Local Resilience. Vermont: Uit Cambridge Ltd.

Jackson, Tim (2005). "Live Better by Consuming Less?: Is There a "Double Dividend" in Sustainable Consumption?" *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 9(1-2): 19-36.

Jackson, Tim (2008). "Where is the "Wellbeing Dividend?" Nature, Structure and Consumption Inequalities ». Local Environment 13(8): 703-23.

Jackson, Tim (2016). "Prosperity Without Growth. 2nd éd. London: New York: Routledge.

Jackson, Tim, and Nic Marks (1999). "Consumption, Sustainable Welfare and Human Needs—with Reference to UK Expenditure Patterns between 1954 and 1994." *Ecological Economics* 28(3): 421-41.

Kadriu, Enkeleda, and Gabriele Wendorf (2011). "How Can German Housing Cooperatives Contribute to Reducing Climate Change?"

Kallis, Giorgos (2019). Limits: Why Malthus Was Wrong and Why Environmentalists Should Care. 1 edition. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.

Lamb, William F., et Julia K. Steinberger (2017). "Human Well-Being and Climate Change Mitigation." WIREs Climate Change 8(6): 485.

Latouche, Serge. 2019. *La décroissance*. Presses Universitaires de France: PUF.

Max-Neef, Manfred (1995). "Economic Growth and Quality of Life: A Threshold Hypothesis." *Ecological Economics* 15(2): 115-18.

Mcgregor, Sue (2002). Consumer Citizenship: A Pathway to Sustainable Development?

Mège, Arnaud (2010). "Une vie qui nous convient." Savoir/Agir 14(4): 57-63.

Mège, Arnaud (2017). "Faire autrement. Terrains travaux." 31(2): 63-86.

Mill, John Stuart (1848). Principles of Political Economy: With Some of Their Applications to Social Philosophy. J. W. Parker.

Missemer, Antoine (2017). "Nicholas Georgescu-Roegen and degrowth." European Journal of the History of Economic Thought 24(3): 493-506.

Moynat, Orlane, Volden, Johannes, & Sahakian, Marlyne (2022). "How do COVID-19 lockdown practices relate to sustainable well-being? Lessons from Oslo and Geneva." *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy*, 18(1): 309-324

Naderifar, Mahin, Hamideh Goli, et Fereshteh Ghaljaie (2017). Snowball Sampling: A Purposeful Method of Sampling in Qualitative Research.

Nussbaum, Martha C. s. d. (2003). "Capabilities as Fundamental Entitlements: Sen and Social Justice."

O'Riordan, Timothy (2013). "Sustainability for Wellbeing." Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions 6: 24-34.

Ottaviani, Fiona (2018). "Time in the Development of Indicators on Sustainable Wellbeing: A Local Experiment in Developing Alternative Indicators." *Social Indicators Research* 135(1): 53-73.

Pelenc, Jerome (2017). "Combining Capabilities and Fundamental Human Needs: A Case Study with Vulnerable Teenagers in France." Social Indicators Research: An International and Interdisciplinary Journal for Quality-of-Life Measurement 133(3): 879-906.

Raworth, Kate (2012). "A safe and just space for humanity: Can we live within the doughnut." Vol. 8.

Raworth, Kate (2017). "Doughnut Economics: Seven Ways to Think Like a 21st-Century Economist. Chelsea Green Publishing.

Rockström, Johan, Will Steffen, Kevin Noone, Åsa Persson, F. Stuart Chapin, Eric Lambin, Timothy M. Lenton, Marten Scheffer, Carl Folke, Hans Joachim Schellnhuber, Björn Nykvist, Cynthia A. de Wit, Terry Hughes, Sander van der Leeuw, Henning Rodhe, Sverker Sörlin, Peter K. Snyder, Robert Costanza, Uno Svedin, Malin Falkenmark, Louise Karlberg, Robert W. Corell, Victoria J. Fabry, James Hansen, Brian Walker, Diana Liverman, Katherine Richardson, Paul Crutzen, et Jonathan Foley. 2009. "Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity." *Ecology and Society* 14(2).

Ryan, R. M., et A. R. Sapp. 2007. "Basic psychological needs: A self-determination theory perspective on the promotion of wellness across development and cultures ».

Ryan, Richard, Veronika Huta, et Edward Deci. 2008. "Living well: A self-determination theory perspective on eudaimonia." *Journal of Happiness Studies* 9:139-70.

Sahakian, M., P. Naef, C. Jensen, G. Goggins, et F. Fahy (2019). "Challenging Conventions towards Energy Sufficiency: Ruptures in Laundry and Heating Routines in Europe." *Paper Presented at the Eceee 2019 Summer Study Presque #39; Île de Giens, France, 03-08 June.*

Sahakian, Marlyne, et Manisha Anantharaman (2020). "What space for public parks in sustainable consumption corridors? Conceptual reflections on need satisfaction through social practices." *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy* 16(1): 128-42.

Sahakian, Marlyne, Manisha Anantharaman, Antonietta Di Giulio, Czarina Saloma, Dunfu Zhang, Rupali Khanna, Srikanth Narasimalu, Abigail Marie Favis, Cherie Audrey Alfiler, Sumana Narayanan, Xin Gao, et Chenxin Li (2020). "Green Public Spaces in the Cities of South and Southeast Asia." *The Journal of Public Space* (2).

Sahakian, Marlyne, et Harold Wilhite (2014). "Making Practice Theory Practicable: Towards More Sustainable Forms of Consumption." *Journal of Consumer Culture* 14(1): 25-44.

Schneider, François (2010). Degrowth of Production and Consumption Capacities for Social Justice, Wellbeing and Ecological Sustainability.

Sen, Amartya (1999). Development as Freedom. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.

Steffen, Will, Katherine Richardson, Johan Rockström, Sarah E. Cornell, Ingo Fetzer, Elena M. Bennett, Reinette Biggs, Stephen R. Carpenter, Wim de Vries, Cynthia A. de Wit, Carl Folke, Dieter Gerten, Jens Heinke, Georgina M. Mace, Linn M. Persson, Veerabhadran Ramanathan, Belinda Reyers, et Sverker Sörlin (2015). "Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet ». *Science* 347(6223): 1259855.

Steinberger, Julia (2020). "Pandenomics: A Story of Life versus Growth." *OpenDemocracy*. Consulted on 6 August 2020 (https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/oureconomy/pandenomics-story-life-versus-growth/).

Van den Bergh, Jeroen C. J. M. 2011. "Environment versus Growth — A Criticism of "Degrowth" and a Plea for 'a-Growth'." *Ecological Economics* 70(5): 881-90.

Weber, Max (1919). Le savant et le politique. Union Générale d'Éditions.

Wilhite, Harold (2017). The Political Economy of Low Carbon Transformation: Breaking the Habits of Capitalism. Abingdon: Routledge.

Zamwel, Einat, Orna Sasson-Levy, et Guy Ben-Porat (2014). "Voluntary Simplifiers as Political Consumers: Individuals Practicing Politics through Reduced Consumption." *Journal of Consumer Culture* 14(2).

ANNEXES

ANNEX 1: SIMPLIFIED MAX-NEEF'S MATRIX (ORIGINAL – EN)

N eeds according to axiological	N eeds according to existential	BEING (B) (personal or collective attributes)	HAVING (H) (institutions, norms, tools)	DOING (D) (personal or collective actions)	INTERACTING (I) (spaces or atmospheres)
categories Subsistence	categories	¹Physical health ,	² Food, shelter,	³ Feed, procreate,	⁴ Living environment,
Subsisience		mental health, adaptability	work	rest, work	Social setting
Protection		⁵ Care, adaptability, autonomy, solidarity	⁶ savings, family, work	⁷ Cooperate, take care of, help	8 Living space, social environement, dwelling
Affection		⁹ Self esteem, solidarity, respect, tolerance, generosity, passion, determination	10 friendships, family, partnerships, relationship with nature	11 Express emotions, share, talke care of, cultivate, appreciate	12 Home, space of togetherness
Understanding		13 Critical conscience, curiosity, discipline, rationality	14	15 Experiment	16 Setting of formative interaction, groups, communities
Participation	1	¹⁷ adaptability, solidarity, dedication, respect, passion	¹⁸ Rights, responsibilities, duties, privileges, work	¹⁹ become affiliated, cooperate, propose, share, dissent (contestation), express opinions	²⁰ settings of participative interaction, parties, associations, communities, neighbourhoods, family
Leisure/ Idleness		²¹ Curiosity, imagination, recklessness (témérité), tranquility	²² parties, games, spectacles, clubs, peace of mind	²³ give way to fantasies, have fun, play, remember, relax	²⁴ free time, privacy, intimacy, spaces of closeness, surroundings, landscapes
Creation		²⁵ passion, determination, imagination, boldness (audace), rationality, autonomy	²⁶ work, abilities, skills	²⁷ work, build, invent, design, compose, interpret	²⁸ cultural groups, spaces for expression, workshops, temporal freedom
Identity		²⁹ sense of belonging, self esteem, consistency, differentiation, assertiveness (affirmation de soi),	³⁰ habits, reference groups, , values, norms*, work	31 Commit oneself, integrate oneself, confront, decide on, get to know oneself, recognize oneself, actualize oneself, grow	32 Social rhythms, everyday settings, settings which one belongs to, maturation stages
Freedom		33 autonomy, self esteem, determination, passion, assertiveness, open- mindedness, boldness, rebelliousness, tolerance	34 Equal rights	35 be different from, dissent, choose, develop awareness, commit oneself, disobey	³⁶ Temporal/spatial plasticity

ANNEX 2: SIMPLIFIED MAX-NEEF'S MATRIX (TRANSLATED – FR)

Besoins	Besoins	ËTRE	AVOIR	FAIRE	INTERAGIR
axiologiques	existentiels	(attributs	(institutions,	(actions	(espaces,
		personnels et	normes, outils)	personnelles ou	atmosph è res)
Qubeletanea		collectifs)	2	collectives)	4
Subsistance		Être en bonne	Avoir un toit	Se nourrir, se	Environnement de
		santé mentale et	Avoir un toit	reposer, travailler	vie, environnement
		physique		reposer, travamer	social
		priysique			Social
Protection		5	6	7	8
		Être autonome,	Avoir des	Aider les autres,	Espace de vie,
		être solidaire	économie/épargne	prendre soin des	logement
				autres	
Affection		9	10	11	12
		Être solidaire,	Avoir des amis, une	Exprimer ses	Foyer, domicile
		respectueux,	famille, des	émotions, partager,	Espaces de
		tolérant	partenariats	apprécier	convivialité/d'unité
			Relation avec la nature		
Compr é hension		13	14	15	16
Compr e nersion		Avoir une		Expérimenter/expér	Interactions
		conscience		imentation	formatrices
		critique, être			(intéressantes)
		curieux(se), être			Groupes,
		discipliné(e), être			communautés
		rationnel(le)			
Participation		17	18	19	20
		Adaptabilité, être	Droits,	S'affilier, coopérer,	Espaces d'interaction
		solidaire, dévoué(e)	responsabilités, devoirs, privilèges	partager Proposer, contester,	participative Fêtes, associations,
			devoirs, privileges	exprimer opinions	communautés,
				exprimer opinions	quartier/voisinage
Loisir		21	22	23	24
		Être imaginatif,	Soirées, spectacles,	Laisser place aux	Avoir du temps libre
		téméraire,	clubs	fantaisies, s'amuser,	1
		tranquille	Tranquillité, paix de	jouer, se relaxer	
0.6.11		ar.	l'esprit	27	20
Cr é ation		25	26		28
		Être passionné(e),	Avoir les	Construire, designer,	Groupes culturels,
		imaginatif(ve), audacieux(se)	compétences, capacités	inventer, composer	espaces d'expression
I dentit é		29	30	31	32
radiate		Sentiment	Habitudes, groupe	S'impliquer,	Cadre de vie, cadres
		d'appartenance,	de référence,	s'intégrer, décider	auxquels on appartient
		estime de soi,	valeurs, normes	0 ,	1 11
		affirmation de soi,			
		différenciation			
Liberté		33	34	35	36
		Etre autonome,	Égalité des droits	Être différent,	Plasticité/adaptabilité
		ouvert(e) d'esprit,		contester, choisir,	temporelle, spatiale
		audacieux(se),		désobéir (aux	
		rebelle		standards	
		1	1	notamment)	

ANNEX 3 (1): INTERVIEW GUIDE (TRÁNSLATED - EN)

INTERVIEW GUIDE TRANSLATION Degrowth and wellbeing

For these interviews, the goal was to recruit people who adhere to the principles of degrowth and who practice it to varying degrees. There is no right or wrong answer, no good or bad practice. The goal is simply to engage in a discussion that allows for a better understanding of the links between degrowth and sustainable wellbeing, different for each interviewee.

1. Consumption reduction and social practices

We will start by discussing your degrowth practices in a fairly broad way, then we will focus on the three areas of consumption that have the most impact on the environment: food mobility and housing (energy).

FYI: A social practice is a daily habit, activity or action that becomes regular, repetitive.

- Please describe when and how you came to adhere to degrowth/started following information/participating in degrowth action? a. How did your transition to a more degrowth lifestyle go? What were the important stages, the difficulties?
- 2. Please describe your daily practices in the following three areas of consumption:
 - a. Please describe tour daily practices in relation to food
 - Type of places you prefer to buy from
 - Product categories How do you buy (packaging, brands, quantity)? Homemade, exchanges?

What does help you/ Who does help you? What are you having problem with/Who are you having problem with regarding food practices

- b. Please describe your daily practices in relation to energy consumption in your home (housing)
 - Type of housing you live in, what motivated this choice?
 - Lifestyle in the home
 - Heating (routines for staying warm...)
 Lighting

 - c. Household appliances and use of appliances (eg. Washing routines washer, dryer, dishwasher...)

What does help you/ Who does help you? What are you having problems with/Who are you having problems with in relation to energy consumption in the home:

- Please describe your daily practices in relation to mobility
 - i. Daily mobility
 - Means of transport you use
 - Frequency of use
 - ii. Professional mobility (business trips, incentives, etc.)
 - Means of transport you use Frequency of use
 - iii. Leisure mobility, personal, holidays
 - Means of transport you use
 - Frequency of use

What does help you/ Who does help you? What are you having problems with/Who are you having problems with in relation to mobility?

- 3. Does a consumption area that has not been mentioned seem important to you in relation to your degrowth practices?
- In your opinion, what are the implications of theses practices on the different dimensions of sustainability? Environmental, social and economic dimensions, wellbeing? See utopia of wellbeing (Wilhite, 2015:312)

2. Degrowth and wellbeing

In this second part of the interview, we will talk about the link between the degrowth practices discussed just before and wellbeing.

- 5. How have your needs been more or less met since you have adopted a degrowth lifestyle?
- Do you feel that there is something missing in your life today? (which may not have been the case before you moved to a degrowth lifestyle)

ANNEX 3 (2): INTERVIEW GUIDE (TRÀNSLATED - EN)

7. In terms of wellbeing, what has become the most important thing for you (which was not necessarily important before? What has become the less important? (which may have been more important before).

When we talk about wellbeing, we are talking about needs, not desires. Indeed, unlike desires, which are specific to each person and insatiable, needs are universal and finite. This is what the Max-Neef fundamental needs matrix that I sent to you a few days ago shows us, and which we will now discuss in connection with your practices.

8. In relation to the degrowth practices discussed above, how does your current lifestyle meet the following needs (from the matrix that was provided to you)?

Being (B), Having (H), Doing (D), Interacting (I)

- a. Subsistence (indispensable, vital)
 - Physical health, mental health (B)
 - Food, shelter, work (H)
 - Feed procreate rest work (D) Living environment, social setting (I)
- b. Protection (security, serenity)
 - Savings (H)
 - Take care, help (D)
- c. Affection (relationships, sharing) Solidarity, respect, tolerance (B)

 - Friendships, family, partnerships, relationship with nature (H) Express emotions, share, appreciate (D)
 - Home, space of togetherness (I)
- d. Understanding (of the world, what is happening)
 - Critical consciences, curiosity, discipline, rationality (B)
 - Experiment (D) Setting formative e interactions, groups, communities (I)
- e. Participation (participate to life, society)
 - Adaptability, solidarity, dedication (B) Rights, responsibilities, duties, privileges (H)
 - Become affiliated, cooperate, share, dissent, express opinions (D)
 - Setting of participative interactions, parties, associations, communities, neighborhood (I)
- Leisure/Idleness (relaxation, fun)
 - Imagination, recklessness, tranquility (B)
 - Parties, spectacles, clubs, peace of mind (H)
 - Give way to fantasies, have fun, play, relax (D) Free time (I)
- - Creation (build, compose, express oneself) Passion, imagination, boldness (B)
 - Abilities, skills (H)
 - Build, invent, design, compose (D)
- h. Identity (to assert oneself, to belong)
 - Sense of belonging, self esteem, differentiation (B)
 - Habits, reference groups, values, norms (H) Commit oneself, integrate oneself, decide on (D)
 - Everyday settings, setting which one belongs to (1)
- - Autonomy, open-mindedness, boldness, rebelliousness (B)

 - Be different from, dissent, choose, disobey D)
- 9. Do you see any practices in your lifestyle that would be likely to meet one of the needs just mentioned, while at the same time reducing the possibility of meeting others of these needs?
- 10. What do the limits (which you set yourself in your practices) mean to you?

ANNEX 3 (3): INTERVIEW GUIDE (TRANSLATED – EN)

3. Covid-19 et future

After discussing your practices and how they relate to the notion of wellbeing, we now enter the last part of the interview which questions, based on the current context, the opportunities and possibilities for a different and more 'degrowing' future.

- 11. How do you imagine a 'degrowing' future (environmentally and socially sustainable)?
 - Who would be the key actors (individuals, community, law, municipality, city/canton/country)?
 What would be the advantages and disadvantages?
- 12. It seems that the current health crisis has changed the consumption patterns of all, as well as their impact on wellbeing. What do you think?
 - What do you think of the notion of suffered degrowth?

Is it necessary to choose to 'build' the degrowth before being confronted with the obligation of a suffered economic degrowth?

Sociodemographic data

- Age of household members
- Marital status
- Professional situation, activity rate
- Highest diploma of each member of the household
- Household income
- Welfare benefits received
- Type of accommodation (house, apartment)
- Owner or tenant of the dwelling in which you reside
 Other assets (real estate, financial), ancillary income
- Residential location Nationality, date of arrival in Geneva

Dans la même collection

Sociograph n°1, 2007, Monitoring misanthropy and rightwing extremist attitudes in Switzerland, An explorative study, Sandro Cattacin, Brigitta Gerber, Massimo Sardi et Robert Wegener.

Sociograph n°2, 2007, *Marché du sexe et violences à Genève*, Àgi Földhàzi et Milena Chimienti.

Sociograph n°3, 2007, Évaluation de la loi sur l'intégration des étrangers du Canton de Genève, Sandro Cattacin, Milena Chimienti, Thomas Kessler, Minh-Son Nguyen et Isabelle Renschler.

Sociograph n°4, 2008, La socio et après? Enquête sur les trajectoires professionnelles et de formation auprès des licencié-e-s en sociologie de l'Université de Genève entre 1995 et 2005, Sous la direction de Stefano Losa et Mélanie Battistini. Avec Gaëlle Aeby, Miriam Odoni, Emilie Rosenstein, Sophie Touchais et Manon Wettstein.

Sociograph n°5a, 2009, Marché du sexe en Suisse. Etat des connaissances, best practices et recommandations, Volet 1 – Revue de la littérature, Géraldine Bugnon et Milena Chimienti avec la collaboration de Laure Chiquet.

Sociograph n°5b, 2009, Der Sexmarkt in der Schweiz. Kenntnisstand, Best Practices und Empfehlungen, Teil 1 – Literaturübersicht, Géraldine Bugnon et Milena Chimienti unter Mitarbeit von Laure Chiquet.

Sociograph n°6a, 2009, Marché du sexe en Suisse. Etat des connaissances, best practices et recommandations, Volet 2 – Cadre légal, Géraldine Bugnon, Milena Chimienti et Laure Chiquet.

Sociograph n°6b, 2009, Der Sexmarkt in der Schweiz. Kenntnisstand, Best Practices und Empfehlungen, Teil 2 – Rechtsrahmen, Géraldine Bugnon, Milena Chimienti et Laure Chiquet.

Sociograph n°7, 2009, Marché du sexe en Suisse. Etat des connaissances, best practices et recommandations, Volet 3 – Mapping, contrôle et promotion de la santé dans le marché du sexe en Suisse, Géraldine Bugnon, Milena Chimienti et Laure Chiquet avec la collaboration de Jakob Eberhard.

Sociograph n°8, 2009, «Nous, on soigne rien sauf des machines». Le pouvoir insoupçonné des aides-soignants en Anesthésie. Sous la direction de Mathilde Bourrier. Avec Aristoteles Aguilar, Mathilde Bourrier, Ekaterina Dimitrova, Solène Gouilhers, Marius Lachavanne, Mélinée Schindler et Marc Venturin.

Sociograph n°9, 2011, The legacy of the theory of high reliability organizations: an ethnographic endeavor. Mathilde Bourrier (Sociograph – Working Paper 6).

Sociograph n°10, 2011, *Unitarism, pluralism, radicalism ... and the rest?* Conor Cradden (Sociograph – Working Paper 7).

Sociograph n°11, 2011, Evaluation du projet-pilote Detention, Enjeux, instruments et impacts de l'intervention de la Croix-Rouge Suisse dans les centres de détention administrative. Nathalie Kakpo, Laure Kaeser et Sandro Cattacin.

Sociograph n°12, 2011, *A nouveau la ville ? Un débat sur le retour de l'urbain.* Sous la direction de Sandro Cattacin et Agi Földhàzi.

Sociograph n°13, 2011, Capital social et coparentage dans les familles recomposées et de première union. Sous la direction de Eric Widmer et Nicolas Favez. Avec Gaëlle Aeby, Ivan De Carlo et Minh-Thuy Doan.

Sociograph n°14, 2012, Les publics du Théâtre Forum Meyrin: Une étude à partir des données de billetterie. Sami Coll, Luc Gauthier et André Ducret.

Sociograph n°15, 2013, Migrations transnationales sénégalaises, intégration et développement. Le rôle des associations de la diaspora à Milan, Paris et Genève. Jenny Maggi, Dame Sarr, Eva Green, Oriane Sarrasin et Anna Ferro.

Sociograph n°16, 2014, *Institutions, acteurs et enjeux de la protection de l'adulte dans le canton de Genève.* Sous la direction de Mathilde Bourrier. Avec Alexandre Pillonel, Clara Barrelet, Eline De Gaspari, Maxime Felder, Nuné Nikoghosyan et Isabela Vieira Bertho.

Sociograph n°17, 2015, Recensions 1983-2013, André Ducret. Avant-propos de Jacques Coenen-Huther.

Sociograph n°18, 2015, Un lieu pour penser l'addiction. Evaluation de l'Académie des Dépendances, Anne Philibert et Sandro Cattacin.

Sociograph n°19, 2015, Connivences et antagonismes. Enquête sociologique dans six rues de Genève. Edité par Maxime Felder, Sandro Cattacin, Loïc

Pignolo, Patricia Naegeli et Alessandro Monsutti. Avec Guillaume Chillier, Monica Devouassoud, Lilla Hadji Guer, Sinisa Hadziabdic, Félix Luginbuhl, Angela Montano, Sonia Perego, Loïc Pignolo, Loïc Riom, Florise Vaubien et Regula Zimmermann.

Sociograph n°20, 2015, *La catastrophe de Mattmark dans la presse. Analyse de la presse écrite.* Edité par Sandro Cattacin, Toni Ricciardi et Irina Radu. Avec Yasmine Ahamed, Lucie Cinardo, Caroline Deniel, Dan Orsholits, Steffanie Perez, Elena Rocco, Julien Ruey, Katleen Ryser, Cynthia Soares et Karen Viadest.

Sociograph n°21, 2015, *La catastrophe de Mattmark. Aspects sociologiques*. Edité par Sandro Cattacin, Toni Ricciardi et Irina Radu. Avec Yasmine Ahamed, Caroline Deniel, Dan Orsholits, Steffanie Perez, Elena Rocco, Julien Ruey, Katleen Ryser, Cynthia Soares et Karen Viadest.

Sociograph n°22 a, 2015, Sind Drogen gefährlich? Gefährlichkeitsabschätzungen psychoaktiver Substanzen. Domenig Dagmar und Sandro Cattacin.

Sociograph n°22 b, 2015, Les drogues sont-elles dangereuses ? Estimations de la dangerosité des substances psychoactives. Domenig Dagmar et Sandro Cattacin. Traduction de Erik Verkooyen.

Sociograph n°23, 2016, Malleable Minds? Teasing Out the Causal Effect(s) of Union Membership on Job Attitudes and Political Outcomes. Sinisa Hadziabdic.

Sociograph n°24, 2016, Les familles de milieu populaire dans une commune genevoise. Intégration sociale et soutien à la parentalité. Eric Widmer, Sabrina Roduit et Marie-Eve Zufferey.

Sociograph n°25, 2016, Addictions et société: voyage au pays des ombres. Actes du colloque des 50 ans du GREA. Edité par Anne Philibert, Géraldine Morel et Sandro Cattacin.

Sociograph n°26, 2017, Complicity and Antagonism: Anthropological Views of Geneva. Edited by Alessandro Monsutti, Françoise Grange Omokaro, Philippe Gazagne and Sandro Cattacin. With Savannah Dodd, Juliana Ghazi, Victoria Gronwald, Sarah Hayes, Aditya Kakati, Samira Marty, Linda Peterhans, Dagna Rams, Rosie Sims and drawings by Heather Suttor.

Sociograph n°27, 2016, Begleitung von Menschen mit einer kognitiven Beeinträchtigung im Spital. Ambivalenzen und Pragmatismus von Schnittstellen. Anna Weber.

Sociograph 28, 2016, "We're from Switzerland, that's a Chocolate Island in Sweden!" Comprendre l'indie rock du point de vue de six groupes suisses. Loïc Riom.

Sociograph 29, 2016, Le devenir professionnel des diplômés en sciences sociales entre 2005 et 2015. Julien Ruey, Emilie Rosenstein, Rita Gouveia et Eric Widmer.

Sociograph n°30, 2017, *Vieillissement et espaces urbains*. Edité par Cornelia Hummel, Claudine Burton-Jeangros et Loïc Riom. Avec Alizée Lenggenhager, Heber Gomez Malave, Martina von Arx, Michael Deml et Ndeye Ndao.

Sociograph n°31, 2017, Voting for the Populist Radical Right in Switzerland: A Panel Data Analysis. Dan Orsholits.

Sociograph n°32, 2017, « C'est pas un boulot, c'est du business. » L'agir des dealers ouest-africains dans un quartier genevois. Loïc Pignolo.

Sociograph n°33, 2017, Le processus d'endettement dans le jeu excessif : d'une revue de la littérature à l'élaboration d'un modèle. Anne Philibert, Géraldine Morel, Loïc Pignolo et Sandro Cattacin.

Sociograph n°34, 2017, L'éthique (en) pratique : la recherche en sciences sociales. Edité par Claudine Burton-Jeangros. Avec Claudine Burton-Jeangros, Maryvonne Charmillot, Julien Debonneville, Karine Duplan, Solène Gouilhers Hertig, Cornelia Hummel, Mauranne Laurent, Barbara Lucas, Andrea Lutz, Michaël Meyer, Lorena Parini, Loïc Riom, Sabrina Roduit, Claudine Sauvain-Dugerdil, Mélinée Schindler et Daniel Stoecklin.

Sociograph n°35, 2018, La musique sous le regard des sciences sociales. Edité par Loïc Riom et Marc Perrenoud. Avec Pierre Bataille, Sandro Cattacin, Nuné Nikoghosyan, Irene Pellegrini, Luca Preite, Pierre Raboud et Christian Steulet.

Sociograph n°36, 2018, La police en quête de transversalité. Chroniques de la réforme de la police genevoise de 2016. Edité par Mathilde Bourrier et Leah Kimber. Avec Camila Andenmatten, Laurence Dufour, Marine Fontaine, Aurélie Friedli et César Humerose.

Sociograph n°37, 2018, Gérer les migrations face aux défis identitaires et sécuritaires. Edité par Adèle Garnier, Loïc Pignolo et Geneviève Saint-Laurent. Avec Adèle Garnier, France Houle, Carla Mascia, Loïc Pignolo, Antoine Roblain, Geneviève Saint-Laurent, Djordje Sredanovic et Bob White.

Sociograph n°38, 2018, Accès aux prestations socio-sanitaires des familles vulnérables à Genève. Le point de vue des acteurs de terrain. Olga Ganjour, Myriam Girardin, Marie-Eve Zufferey, Claudine Burton-Jeangros et Eric Widmer.

Sociograph n°39, 2018, Expériences de vieillissements en collectif agricole autogé-ré. Enjeux individuels et collectifs, Elena Rocco.

Sociograph n°40, 2018, Proches aidants et proches aidés: ressources et contraintes associées aux dynamiques familiales confrontées à la perte d'autonomie du parent âgé. Myriam Girardin, Olga Ganjour, Marie-Eve Zufferey et Eric Widmer.

Sociograph n°41, 2019, Revue internationale des modèles de régulation du cannabis. Anne Philibert et Frank Zobel.

Sociograph n°42, 2019, Dynamiques de formalisation et d'informalisation dans l'étude des migrations. Edité par Nathalie Blais, Marisa Fois et Antoine Roblain. Avec Hélène Awet Woldeyohannes, Julien Debonneville, Nawal Bensaïd, Nathalie Blais, Marisa Fois, Fiorenza Gamba, Adèle Garnier, France Houle, Laurent Licata, Loïc Pignolo, Annaelle Piva, Toni Ricciardi, Antoine Roblain, Josette St-Amour Blais et Anissa Tahri.

Sociograph n°43, 2019, Sommeil des adolescents et rythmes scolaires. Claudine Burton-Jeangros et Maxime Felder. Avec la participation de Marion Aberle, Nicolas Charpentier, Alison Do Santos, Iuna Dones, Melissa Mapatano, Auxane Pidoux et Johanna Yakoubian.

Sociograph n°44, 2020, Famille et vulnérabilités des enfants. État des lieux et responsabilités institutionnelles à Genève. Jean-Michel Bonvin, Eric Widmer, Liala Consoli et Regula Zimmermann.

Sociograph n°45, 2020, Enjeux éthiques dans l'enquête en sciences sociales. Edité par Marta Roca i Escoda, Claudine Burton-Jeangros, Pablo Diaz et Ilario Rossi. Avec Sarah Bonnard, Margaux Bressan, Baptiste Brodard, Michael Cordey, Louise Déjeans, Eline De Gaspari, Valentine Duhant, Lucile Franz, Laurent Paccaud, Aude Parfaite, Léa Sallenave et Carla Vaucher.

Sociograph n°46, 2020, Les drogues dans tons leurs états. Edité par Sandro Cattacin, Anne Philibert, Loïc Pignolo, Barbara Broers et Guillaume Rey. Avec Audrey Arnoult, Marie Crittin, Dagmar Domenig, Bengt Kayser, Michel Kokoreff, Alexandre Marchant, Christian Schneider et Marc-Henry Soulet.

Sociograph n°47, 2020, Les modes de garde après séparation : conditions et conséquences sur les relations familiales. Marie-Eve Zufferey, Myriam Girardin, Olga Ganjour et Clémentine Rossier.

Sociograph 48, 2020, *Prishtina la paradoxale ou l'innovation dans un environnement adverse*. Edité par Sandro Cattacin et Loïc Pignolo. Avec Zachariah Aebi, Priscilla Bellesia Mbuinzama, Karim Jowary, Ariane Levrat, Estelle Lligona, Matteo Marano, Alys Martin, Malaïka Nagel, Ravi Ramsahye, Sophie Ratcliff, Estelle Röthlisberger, Giordano Rumasuglia et Annabella Zamora. Postface de Rifat Haxhijaj.

Sociograph 49, 2020, Les colonialismes suisses. Entretiens (Vol. I). Édité par Sandro Cattacin et Marisa Fois. Avec Aline Boeuf, Margot Chauderna, Alexey Chernikov, Marianna Colella, Mariam Duruz, Guillaume Fernandez, Safi Lashley, Edil Mansilla, Yawa Megbayowo, Marilia Adriana Meyer-Fernandez Cazorla, Orlane Moynat, Ana Quijano et Kenza Wadimoff.

Sociograph 50, 2020, Les colonialismes suisses. Études (Vol. II). Édité par Sandro Cattacin et Marisa Fois. Avec Aline Boeuf, Margot Chauderna, Marianna Colella, Mariam Duruz, Guillaume Fernandez, Safi Lashley, Edil Mansilla, Yawa Megbayowo, Marilia Adriana Meyer-Fernandez Cazorla, Orlane Moynat, Ana Quijano et Kenza Wadimoff.

Sociograph 51, 2020, La socioéconomie des politiques sociales au service des capacités. Études de cas dans le contexte genevois. Édité par Jean-Michel Bonvin et Aris Martinelli. Avec Mathieu Amoos, Cora Beausoleil, Hamadoun Diallo, Caroline Dubath, Julien Fakhoury, Fabienne Fallegger, Romain Gauthier, Romain Guex, Rose Hirschi, Mélanie Hirt, Lionel Lambert, Krisana Messerli, Luca Perrig, Lucien Pfister, Jérémie Savoy et Hannah Wonta.

Sociograph 52, 2020, Lieux et temps des rituels d'inclusion territoriale dans le Grand Genève. Edité par Fiorenza Gamba, Sandro Cattacin et Bernard Debarbieux. Avec Elise Barras, Leika Barthe, Florent Bolomey, Benjamin Bouele, Cyrille Chatton, Bruno Primo Da Silva, Tiffany Da Silva, Sven Favarger, Audrey Gagnaux, Laetitia Maradan, Simon Paratte, Thomas Rotunno, Olivier Waeber et Christina Zholdokova.

Sociograph 53, 2022, *Italiano* on the road. *Per i quartieri e le strade di Zurigo, Basilea e Ginevra*. Irene Pellegrini, Verio Pini e Sandro Cattacin.

Sociograph 54, 2022, (In)former les patient.es à la recherche biomédicale : sociologie des documents d'information et de consentement. Solène Gouilhers, Loïc Riom, Claudine Burton-Jeangros, Ainhoa Saenz Morales et Mathieu Amoos.

Sociograph 55, 2022, Inventer le quotidien au temps du Covid-19: communiquer, soigner et organiser. Edité par Mathilde Bourrier, Michael Deml et Leah Kimber. Avec Jimmy Clerc, Océane Corthay, Margaux Dubois, Alexandrine Dupras, Lucas Duquesnoy, Fantine Gicquel, Katharina Jungo, Leah Kimber, Kamyar Kompani, Claudine Kroepfli, Kate de Rivero et Annabella Zamora.

Sociograph 56, 2022, Décrochage scolaire et dynamiques familiales : Etat des lieux. Eric Widmer, Olga Ganjour, Myriam Girardin, Sandra Huri, Marie-Eve Zufferey, Ivaine Droz-Dit-Busset et Benoît Reverdin.

Sociograph 57 a, 2022, *Vivre et travailler sans statut légal à Genève : premiers constats de l'étude Parchemins.* Yves Jackson, Claudine Burton-Jeangros, Aline Duvoisin, Liala Consoli et Julien Fakhoury.

Sociograph 57 b, 2022, Living and working without legal status in Geneva. first findings of the Parchemins study. Yves Jackson, Claudine Burton-Jeangros, Aline Duvoisin, Liala Consoli et Julien Fakhoury.

Sociograph 58, 2022, Cannabis in the Swiss economy. Economic effects of current and alternate regulation in Switzerland. Oliver Hoff.

Sociograph 59, 2022, Sufficiency and wellbeing: a study of degrowth practices in the Geneva and V aud area. Orlane Moynat.

Toutes les publications se trouvent en ligne sous : www.unige.ch/sciences-societe/socio/sociograph

Consumption is a crucial issue in relation to environmental sustainability, particularly addressed through studies on the impact of consumption patterns on the environment. Consumption patterns have also been considered in relation to another dimension of sustainability that involves people's quality of life and notions of social justice. In that respect, there has been a growing interest in the links between consumption, environmental sustainability and wellbeing (Guillen-Royo & Wilhite, 2015; Brand-Correa & Steinberger, 2017; Gough, 2017 among others). One hopeful hypothesis suggests that reduced consumption levels and associated negative impacts might actually lead to higher wellbeing – what Tim Jackson has termed the double dividend (2005). Yet, more empirical evidence is needed to better understand this double dividend. This book draws on a research project that aimed at understanding the nexus between everyday consumption patterns and wellbeing, in relation to sufficiency – or absolute reductions in consumption. Building on Max Neef's theories of fundamental human needs (1991) and a social practice theory approach to consumption (Shove, 2003 among others), this work proposes a distinctive conceptual framework that supports the theoretical and empirical compatibility of social practice theory, consumption reduction, and a needs-based considerations of wellbeing. Drawing on individual interviews with people close to the Geneva degrowth movement network (Réseau d'objection de croissance), the book questions the relationship between everyday life consumption and the good life. It illustrates how the understanding of the nexus between sufficiency and wellbeing through everyday practices can be considered as a window of opportunity towards forms of change that would take into account environmental and social dimensions of sustainability, as equally crucial and interrelated aspects of (sustainable) wellbeing.

Orlane Moynat is a PhD student and research and teaching assistant at the Institute of Sociological Research and the Department of sociology of the University of Geneva. She holds a Master's degree in Communication and Marketing with a specialization in consumer behavior (2017) and a Master's degree in Sociology specializing in sociology of consumption and sustainability (2020). She has contributed to various research projects on consumption in sociology and political science and her interests are evolving around sustainability and well-being in relation to the ecological transition and the future(s).